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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)

x QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024

OR

o TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from _________ to _________

Commission file number 001-39982

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)

Delaware 85-3230987

(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

4360 Park Terrace Drive, Suite 100
 Westlake Village, California 91361

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(805) 852-0000

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbol(s) Name of each exchange on which registered

Common Stock, par value $0.0001 per share NRGV New York Stock Exchange

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports); and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be submitted and
posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and
post such files). Yes x No o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the definitions of “large
accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer ¨ Accelerated filer x

Non-accelerated filer ¨ Smaller reporting company ¨ x

Emerging growth company x

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.o

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).Yes o No x

The registrant had 148,850,450 150,484,246, shares of common stock, par value $0.0001 per share, outstanding as of May 3, 2024 August 1, 2024.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the federal securities laws. All statements other than statements of historical facts
contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including statements regarding our future results of operations or financial condition, business strategy and plans and objectives of
management for future operations, are forward-looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other important factors that are in some
cases beyond our control and may cause our actual results, performance, or achievements to be materially different from any future results, performance, or achievements
expressed or implied by the forward-looking statements. In some cases, you can identify forward-looking statements because they contain words such as “anticipate,” “believe,”
“contemplate,” “continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “should,” “target,” “will” or “would” or the negative of these words or
other similar terms or expressions. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements concerning the following:

• changes in our strategy, expansion plans, customer opportunities, future operations, future financial position, estimated revenues and losses, projected costs, prospects and
plans;

• the implementation, market acceptance and success of our business model and growth strategy;

• our ability to develop and maintain our brand and reputation;

• developments and projections relating to our business, our competitors, and industry;

• the impact of health epidemics on our business and the actions we may take in response thereto;

• our expectations regarding our ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property protection and not infringe on the rights of others;

• expectations regarding the time during which we will be an emerging growth company under the JOBS Act;

• our future capital requirements and sources and uses of cash;

• the international nature of our operations and the impact of war or other hostilities on our business and global markets;

• our ability to obtain funding for our operations and future growth; and

• our business, expansion plans and opportunities.

You should not rely on forward-looking statements as predictions of future events. We have based the forward-looking statements contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
primarily on our current expectations and projections about future events and trends that we believe may affect our business, financial condition and operating results. The outcome
of the events described in these forward-looking statements is subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors described in the section titled “Risk Factors” in our 2023 Annual
Report on Form 10-K and elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Moreover, we operate in a very competitive and rapidly changing environment. New risks and
uncertainties emerge from time to time, and it is not possible for us to predict all risks and uncertainties that could have an impact on the forward-looking statements contained in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. The results, events and circumstances reflected in the forward-looking statements may not be achieved or occur, and actual results, events or
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circumstances could differ materially from those described in the forward-looking statements. Additionally, our discussions of ESG environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”)
assessments, goals and relevant issues herein or in other locations, including our corporate website, are informed by various ESG standards and frameworks (including standards

for the measurement of underlying data), and the interests of various stakeholders.References to “materiality” in the context of such discussions and any related assessment of ESG

“materiality” may differ from the definition of “materiality” under the federal securities laws for SEC reporting purposes.Furthermore, much of this information is subject to
assumptions, estimates or third-party information that is still evolving and subject to change. For example, we note that standards and expectations regarding greenhouse gas
(“GHG”) accounting and the process for measuring and counting GHG emissions and GHG emissions reductions are evolving, and it is possible that our approaches both to
measuring our emissions and any reductions may be at some point, either currently or in the future, considered not in keeping with best practices. In addition, our disclosures based
on any standards may change due to revisions in framework requirements, availability or quality of information, changes in our business or applicable government policies, or other
factors, some of which may be beyond our control.

In addition, statements that “we believe” and similar statements reflect our beliefs and opinions on the relevant subject. These statements are based on information available to us
as of the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. While we believe that information provides a reasonable basis for these statements, that information may be limited or
incomplete. Our statements should not be read to indicate that we have conducted an exhaustive inquiry into, or review of, all relevant information. These statements are inherently
uncertain, and investors are cautioned not to unduly rely on these statements. Any forward-looking statements only speak as of the date of this document, and we undertake no
obligation to update any forward-looking information or statements, whether written or oral, to reflect any change, except as required by law. All forward-looking statements
attributable to us are expressly qualified by these cautionary statements.

Part I-Financial Information

Item 1. Financial Statements
ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets
(Unaudited)

(In thousands except par value)

March

31,


2024

December 31,


2023

June

30,


2024

December 31,


2023

Assets

Current Assets

Current Assets

Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $23 and $69 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively

Contract assets, net of allowance for credit losses of $1,041 and $1,113 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $16 and $69 as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively

Contract assets, net of allowance for credit losses of $1,393 and $1,113 as of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively

Inventory

Customer financing receivable, current portion, net of allowance for credit losses of $375 and $375 as of March 31,
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively

Customer financing receivable, current portion, net of allowance for credit losses of $187 and $375 as of June 30, 2024
and December 31, 2023, respectively

Advances to suppliers

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Assets held for sale

Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Total current assets
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Property and equipment, net

Intangible assets, net

Operating lease right-of-use assets

Customer financing receivable, long-term portion, net of allowance for credit losses of $986 and $957 as of March 31,
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively

Customer financing receivable, long-term portion, net of allowance for credit losses of $1,015 and $957 as of June 30,
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively

Investments

Other assets

Total Assets

Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Current Liabilities

Accounts payable

Accounts payable

Accounts payable

Accrued expenses

Contract liabilities, current portion

Contract liabilities, current portion

Contract liabilities, current portion

Lease liabilities, current portion

Total current liabilities

Deferred pension obligation

Contract liabilities, long-term portion

Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies
Commitments and
contingencies

Commitments and
contingencies

Stockholders’ Equity

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized, none issued

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized, none issued

Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized, none issued

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 500,000 shares authorized, 147,868 and 146,577 issued and outstanding at March
31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively

Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 500,000 shares authorized, 150,136 and 146,577 issued and outstanding at June 30,
2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively

Additional paid-in capital

Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Non-controlling interest

Total stockholders’ equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss
(Unaudited)

(In thousands except per share data)

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,
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Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Revenue

Revenue

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Gross profit

Gross profit

Operating expenses:

Operating expenses:

Operating expenses:

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing

Research and development

Research and development

Research and development

General and administrative

General and administrative

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets

Loss from operations

Loss from operations

Loss from operations

Other income (expense):

Other income (expense):

Other income (expense):

Interest expense

Interest expense

Interest expense

Interest income

Interest income

Interest income

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net

Loss before income taxes

Loss before income taxes

Loss before income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes
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Net loss

Net loss

Net loss

Net loss attributable to non-controlling interest

Net loss attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.

Net loss per share — basic and diluted

Net loss per share — basic and diluted

Net loss per share — basic and diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic and diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic and diluted

Net loss per share attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. — basic and diluted

Net loss per share attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. — basic and diluted

Net loss per share attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. — basic and diluted

Weighted average shares outstanding — basic and diluted

Other comprehensive income (loss) — net of tax

Other comprehensive income (loss) — net of tax

Other comprehensive income (loss) — net of tax

Actuarial (loss) gain on pension

Actuarial (loss) gain on pension

Actuarial (loss) gain on pension

Foreign currency translation gain

Foreign currency translation gain

Foreign currency translation gain

Total other comprehensive (loss) income

Total other comprehensive (loss) income

Total other comprehensive (loss) income

Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss

Total comprehensive loss

Actuarial gain (loss) on pension

Actuarial gain (loss) on pension

Actuarial gain (loss) on pension

Foreign currency translation (loss) gain

Total other comprehensive (loss) income attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.

Total comprehensive loss attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 Three Months Ended June 30, 2024

Common

Stock

Common

Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

Common

Stock Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Non-

Controlling

Interest

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares

Balance at December 31, 2023

Balance at December 31, 2023
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Balance at December 31, 2023

Balance at March 31, 2024

Balance at March 31, 2024

Balance at March 31, 2024

Stock based compensation

Stock based compensation

Stock based compensation

Vesting of restricted stock units
(“RSUs”), net of shares withheld
for payroll taxes

Net loss

Actuarial loss on pension

Foreign currency translation gain

Balance at March 31, 2024

Actuarial gain on pension

Foreign currency translation loss

Balance at June 30, 2024

Three Months Ended March 31,

2023 Three Months Ended June 30, 2023

Common

Stock

Common

Stock
Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Total
Stockholders’

Equity

Common

Stock
Additional

Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Non-

Controlling

Interest

Total
Stockholders’

EquityShares

Balance at December 31, 2022

Balance at December 31, 2022

Balance at December 31, 2022

Adoption of ASU 2016-13

Balance at March 31, 2023

Balance at March 31, 2023

Balance at March 31, 2023

Exercise of stock options

Exercise of stock options

Exercise of stock options

Stock based
compensation

Vesting of RSUs, net of
shares withheld for
payroll taxes

Net loss

Actuarial gain on pension

Actuarial loss on pension

Foreign currency
translation gain

Balance at March 31,
2023

Balance at June 30, 2023

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Continued)
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

Common Stock
Additional Paid-In

Capital
Accumulated

Deficit
Accumulated

Other

Non-Controlling

Interest
Total Stockholders’

Equity
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Comprehensive
Income (Loss)Shares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2023 146,577  $ 15  $ 473,271  $ (248,072) $ (1,421) $ —  $ 223,793 

Stock based compensation —  —  19,188  —  —  —  19,188 

Vesting of RSUs, net of shares withheld for payroll
taxes 3,559  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Net loss —  —  —  (47,327) —  (11) (47,338)

Actuarial loss on pension —  —  —  —  (228) —  (228)

Foreign currency translation gain —  —  —  —  137  —  137 

Balance at June 30, 2024 150,136  $ 15  $ 492,459  $ (295,399) $ (1,512) $ (11) $ 195,552 

Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Common Stock
Additional Paid-In

Capital
Accumulated

Deficit

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Non-Controlling

Interest

Total Stockholders’
EquityShares Amount

Balance at December 31, 2022 138,530  $ 14  $ 435,852  $ (147,265) $ (888) $ —  $ 287,713 

Adoption of ASU 2016-13 —  —  —  (2,364) —  —  (2,364)

Exercise of stock options 141  —  113  —  —  —  113 

Stock based compensation —  —  23,809  —  —  —  23,809 

Vesting of RSUs, net of shares withheld for payroll
taxes 4,032  —  (4,491) —  —  —  (4,491)

Net loss —  —  —  (57,329) —  —  (57,329)

Actuarial loss on pension —  —  —  —  (54) —  (54)

Foreign currency translation gain —  —  —  —  166  —  166 

Balance at June 30, 2023 142,703  $ 14  $ 455,283  $ (206,958) $ (776) $ —  $ 247,563 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Unaudited)

(In thousands)

Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Cash Flows From Operating Activities

Net loss

Net loss

Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Non-cash interest income

Stock based compensation

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets

Provision for credit losses

Benefit for credit losses

Provision for credit losses

Benefit for credit losses
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Benefit for credit losses

Provision for credit losses

Foreign exchange losses

Change in operating assets

Change in operating liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment

Purchase of property and equipment

Purchase of property and equipment

Purchase of property and equipment

Purchase of property and equipment held for sale

Purchase of equity securities

Purchase of equity securities

Purchase of equity securities

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Proceeds from exercise of stock options

Repayment of insurance premium financings

Repayment of insurance premium financings

Proceeds from insurance premium financings

Repayment of insurance premium financings

Payment of taxes related to net settlement of equity awards

Payment of finance lease obligations

Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash – beginning of the period

Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash – end of the period

Less: Restricted cash at end of period

Less: restricted cash at end of period

Cash and cash equivalents - end of period

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information:

Income taxes paid

Income taxes paid

Income taxes paid

Cash paid for interest

Supplemental Disclosures of Non-Cash Investing and Financing Information:

Actuarial (loss) gain on pension

Actuarial (loss) gain on pension

Actuarial (loss) gain on pension

Actuarial loss on pension

Actuarial loss on pension
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Actuarial loss on pension

Property and equipment financed through accounts payable and accrued expenses

Assets acquired on finance lease

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed consolidated financial statements.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS

Energy Vault Holdings, Inc., which together with its subsidiaries is referred to herein as “Energy Vault” or the “Company”, develops and deploys utility-scale energy storage solutions
designed to aid in the global transition to a clean energy future. The Company’s mission is to provide energy storage solutions to accelerate the global transition to renewable
energy.

NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting in accordance with United States
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”) and applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) regarding interim financial reporting.
Certain information and disclosures normally included in consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with GAAP have been condensed or omitted pursuant to such
rules and regulations. Accordingly, these unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial
statements and accompanying notes for the year ended December 31, 2023. The condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023, included herein, was derived
from the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of that date.

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of management, reflect all adjustments necessary to present fairly the Company’s financial
position as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, results of operations, comprehensive loss, and stockholders’ equity activities for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and
2023, and the Company’s results of operations and comprehensive loss, stockholders’ equity activities, and the cash flows for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30,
2024 and 2023. The results for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the year ending
December 31, 2024 or for any interim period or for any other future year.

Principles of Consolidation

These unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements include Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. and , its wholly owned subsidiaries. subsidiaries, and a majority owned
subsidiary. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Non-controlling interest

In May 2024, the Company’s consolidated subsidiary, Cetus Energy, Inc. (“Cetus”), issued a share-based payment award to an employee of Cetus, representing a non-controlling
interest. A non-controlling interest in a subsidiary is considered an ownership interest in a majority-owned subsidiary that is not attributable to the parent. The Company includes
non-controlling interest as a component of stockholders’ equity on the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Emerging Growth Company

Section 102(b)(1) of the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act of 2012 (the “JOBS Act”) exempts emerging growth companies from being required to comply with new or revised
financial accounting standards until private companies (that is, those that have not had a Securities Act registration statement declared effective or do not have a class of securities
registered under the Exchange Act) are required to comply with the new or revised financial accounting standards. The JOBS Act provides that an emerging growth company can
elect to opt out of the extended transition period and comply with the requirements that apply to non-emerging growth companies but any such election to opt out is irrevocable. The
Company has elected not to opt out of such extended transition period, which means that when a standard is issued or revised, and it has different application dates for public or
private companies, the Company, as an emerging growth company, can adopt the new or revised standard at the time private companies adopt the new or revised standard.

This may make comparison of the Company’s consolidated financial statement with another public company that is neither an emerging growth company nor an emerging growth
company that has opted out of using the extended transition period difficult or impossible because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the condensed consolidated financial statements, in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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statements and accompanying notes. The Company evaluates its assumptions on an ongoing basis. The Company’s management believes that the estimates, judgment, and
assumptions used are reasonable based upon information available at the time they are made. Significant estimates made by management include, among others, revenue
recognition, warranty accruals, and stock-based compensation. Due to the inherent uncertainty involved in making assumptions and estimates, changes in circumstances could
result in actual results differing from those estimates, and such differences could be material to the Company’s consolidated financial condition and results of operations.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Segment Reporting

The Company reports its operating results and financial information in one operating and reportable segment. Our chief operating decision maker, which is our chief executive
officer, reviews our operating results on a consolidated basis and uses that consolidated financial information to make operating decisions, assess financial performance, and
allocate resources.

Concentration of Credit and Other Risks

Financial instruments that subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, and customer
financings receivable.

Risks associated with cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are mitigated by banking with creditworthy institutions. Such balances with any one institution may, at times, be
in excess of federally insured amounts.

As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, one customer three customers accounted for 87% 43%, 34%, and 23% of accounts receivable and as receivable. As of December 31, 2023,
one customer accounted for 92% of accounts receivable.

As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, one customer accounted for 100% of the customer financing receivable.

Revenue from three customers accounted for 46%, 30%, and 14% of total revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and revenue from two customers accounted for 69%
and 19% of total revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024. Revenue from one customer accounted for 90% of total revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and
revenue from two customers accounted for 80% and 14% of total revenue respectively, for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 and revenue from three customers accounted
for 43%, 39%, and 16% of total revenue, respectively, for the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023.

Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The Company’s significant accounting policies are discussed in Note 2 of the notes to the consolidated financial statements included in the Company’s 2023 Annual Report on Form
10-K filed with the SEC on March 13, 2024. There have not been any significant changes to these policies during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

NOTE 3. REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Company recognized revenue for the product and service categories as follows for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 (amounts in
thousands). :

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

2024

2024

Build and transfer energy storage products

Build and transfer energy storage products

Build and transfer energy storage products

Other

Other

Sale of energy storage products (1)
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Maintenance services

Software licensing

Intellectual property licensing

Other

Total revenue

Total revenue

Total revenue

__________________

(1) Includes revenue from the build and transfer of energy storage systems and from the sale of spare parts for energy storage systems. Revenue from the sale of spare parts was included within “Other” in prior periods.

$0.3 million in revenue from the sale of spare parts reported within the “Other” line for the three months ended March 31, 2024 has been included within “Sale of energy storage products” for the six months ended June 30,

2024.

Remaining Performance Obligations

Remaining performance obligations represent the amount of unearned transaction prices under contracts for which work is wholly or partially unperformed. As of March 31,
2024 June 30, 2024, the amount of the Company’s remaining performance obligations was $137.5 $46.5 million. The Company generally expects to recognize approximately
3% 90% of the remaining performance obligations as revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder more than 12 months from March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.
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Contract Balances

The following table provides information about contract assets and contract liabilities from contracts with customers. customers (amounts in thousands):

March 31,


2024

December 31,


2023

June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

Refundable contribution

Unbilled receivables

Retainage

Less allowance for credit losses

Contract assets, net of allowance for credit losses

Contract liabilities, current portion

Contract liabilities, current portion

Contract liabilities, current portion

Contract liabilities, long-term portion

Total contract liabilities
Contract assets consist of a refundable contribution, unbilled receivables, and retainage.

Refundable contribution represents the contribution the Company made to a customer to be used during the construction of its first gravity energy storage system (“GESS”), which
will . The refundable contribution was to be refunded to the Company upon the customer’s first GESS obtaining substantial completion, subject to adjustment for potential liquidated
damages if certain performance metrics are were not met. During the second quarter of 2024, the Company signed a contract amendment with the

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

customer removing the substantial completion condition for repayment. The Company expects to collect the $25.0 million refundable contribution in the second half of 2024.

Unbilled receivables represent the estimated value of unbilled work for projects with performance obligations recognized over time.

Retainage represents a portion of the contract amount that has been billed, but for which the contract allows the customer to retain a portion of the billed amount until final contract
settlement. Retainage is not considered to be a significant financing component because the intent is to protect the customer.
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Contract liabilities consist of deferred revenue. Under certain contracts, the Company may be entitled to invoice the customer and receive payments in advance of performing the
related contract work. In those instances, the Company recognizes a liability for advance billings in excess of revenue recognized, which is referred to as deferred revenue. Deferred
revenue is not considered to be a significant financing component because it is generally used to meet working capital demands that can be higher in the early stages of a contract.
For the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company recognized revenue of $0.5 million and $1.0 million, respectively, related to amounts that were
included in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2023, primarily as a result of the advancement of physical progress on the related projects during the period. For the three and six
months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, the Company recognized revenue of $11.3 $6.3 million and $17.6 million respectively, related to amounts that were included in
deferred revenue as of December 31, 2022, primarily as a result of the advancement of physical progress on the related projects during the period.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.
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NOTE 4. ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Activity in the allowance for credit losses was as follows for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 Six Months Ended June 30, 2024

Accounts

Receivable

Accounts

Receivable

Contract

Assets

Customer Financing

Receivable Total

Accounts

Receivable

Contract

Assets

Customer Financing

Receivable Total

Allowance for credit losses, beginning of
period

Provision (benefit) for credit losses

Write-offs

Allowance for credit losses, end of period

Three Months Ended March 31,

2023 Six Months Ended June 30, 2023

Accounts

Receivable

Accounts

Receivable

Contract

Assets

Customer Financing

Receivable Total

Accounts

Receivable

Contract

Assets

Customer Financing

Receivable Total

Allowance for credit losses, beginning of
period

Addition due to adoption of ASU 2016-13

Provision (benefit) for credit losses

Allowance for credit losses, end of period
The Company utilizes a probability-of-default (“PD”) and loss-given-default (“LGD”) methodology to calculate the allowance for expected credit losses for each customer by type of
financial asset. Due to the Company’s limited operating history and lack of loss history, the Company derived its PD and LGD rates using average historical rates for corporate
bonds as published by Moody’s. The Company uses PD and LGD rates that correspond to the customer’s credit rating and period of time in which the financial asset is expected to
remain outstanding.

The Company evaluates its customer financing receivable on a periodic basis by monitoring the credit quality and financial condition of the guarantor for the customer. The
amortized cost basis for the Company’s customer financing receivable was $10.9 $9.6 million and $10.7 million as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023,
respectively.
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NOTE 5. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Carrying amounts of certain financial instruments, including cash, accounts payable, and accrued expenses approximate their fair value due to their relatively short maturities and
market interest rates, if applicable.

The Company categorizes assets and liabilities recorded or disclosed at fair value on the consolidated balance sheet based upon the level of judgment associated with inputs used
to measure their fair value. The categories are as follows:

• Level 1—Inputs which included quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities.
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• Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not
active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

• Level 3—Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data, which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.
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The Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis were as follows as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively
(amounts in thousands):

Level 1

Level 1

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets (Liabilities):

Derivative asset — conversion option (1)

Derivative asset — conversion option (1)

Derivative asset — conversion option (1)

Warrant liability (2)

__________________

(1) Refer to Note 7 - Investments for further information. The Company determined the fair value of the derivative instrument as the difference between the expected settlement value upon conversion of the convertible note, and

the principal amount of the convertible note.

(2) The warrants are not publicly traded and the Company uses a Black-Scholes model to determine the fair value of the warrants.

NOTE 6. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In May 2019, the Company received a $1.5 million deposit for a gravity-based system from a customer that was owned by one of its primary shareholders. The deposit and order
were received before the owner of the customer became one of the Company’s primary shareholders and the deposit was recognized in the line item, contract liabilities, long-term
portion, in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023. During the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company concluded it was
no longer obligated to provide a gravity-based system to the customer and that the deposit was nonrefundable. As a result, the Company derecognized the $1.5 million liability and
recognized it as a gain within the line item, other income (expense), net, in the condensed consolidated statements of operations during the three six months ended March 31,
2024 June 30, 2024.

During the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, the Company paid contracted engineering, design, and civil tolerance code calculation support fees of $0.1 million and
$0.1 million, respectively, to an immediate family member of an executive officer. The Company retains all intellectual property as part of these services.

During the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, June 30, 2024, the Company paid $0.2 million $0.3 million and $0.4 million $0.6 million, respectively, in marketing
and sales costs to a company owned by an immediate family member of an officer of the Company. During the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, the Company paid $0.4
million and $0.8 million, respectively.

In May 2023, the Company signed a technology license option agreement with a company affiliated with a member of Energy Vault’s Board of Directors (“Board”). The agreement
permitted the customer to exercise options to enter into licensing agreements in certain territories to use the Company’s gravity storage technology in exchange for a fee of
$0.5 million. The customer exercised its option for one territory on June 30, 2023 and paid a licensing fee of $0.5 million. The customer’s options to exercise additional territories
expired on June 30, 2024. Immediately prior to the expiration of the option agreement, the Company had $0.3 million in deferred revenue related to the agreement. The Company
agreed to refund the customer $0.3 million of the option fee upon expiration of the option agreement in exchange for software that supports gravity storage efforts. As of June 30,
2024, the Company did not have any deferred revenue related to the option agreement. Additionally, the Company will terminate the license agreement for the territory that was
exercised by the customer effective June 30, 2024, and the Company does not expect to collect any additional licensing fees from this customer.

ENERGY VAULT, INC.

NOTES TO CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(UNAUDITED)

NOTE 7. INVESTMENTS

The following table provides a reconciliation of investments to the Company’s condensed consolidated balance sheets (amounts in thousands):

March 31,


2024

December 31,


2023
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June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

Investment in equity securities

Convertible note receivable

$

Investment in Equity Securities

In November 2022, the Company purchased $9.0 million of equity securities in KORE Power, Inc. (“KORE”), a U.S. manufacturer of battery cells and modules. In February 2023, the
Company purchased an additional $6.0 million of equity securities, increasing the Company’s total investment in KORE to $15.0 million.

These equity securities do not have a readily determinable fair value and are recorded at cost, less any impairment, plus or minus adjustments related to observable transactions for
the same or similar securities, with unrealized gains and losses included in earnings. As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the carrying value of these
equity securities was equal to its cost basis.

Convertible Note Receivable

In October 2021, the Company entered into a convertible promissory note purchase agreement with DG Fuels, LLC (“DG Fuels”) and purchased a promissory note with a principal
balance of $1.0 million (“DG Fuels Tranche 1 Note”). In April 2022, the Company purchased an additional promissory note from DG Fuels with a principal balance of $2.0 million.
(“DG

ENERGY VAULT, INC.
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(UNAUDITED)

Fuels Tranche 2 Note”) (collectively, the “DG Fuels Note”). The convertible promissory note is recorded in other assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.

The maturity date of the DG Fuels Note is the earlier of (i) 30 days after a demand for payment is made by the Company at any time after the two year anniversary of the date of
issuance of the note; (ii) the four year anniversary of the date of issuance of the note; (iii) five days following a Financial Close (“Financial Close” means a project finance style
closing by DG Fuels or its subsidiary of debt and equity capital to finance the construction of that certain biofuel facility currently under development by DG Fuels), or (iv) upon an
event of default determined at the discretion of the Company. The DG Fuels Note has an annual interest rate of 10.0%.

The Company intends to hold and convert the DG Fuels Note into the equity securities issued by DG Fuels in its next equity financing round that is greater than $20.0 million at a
20% discount to the issuance price. The principal balance and unpaid accrued interest on the DG Fuels Note will, at the option of the Company, convert into equity securities upon
the closing of such next equity financing round.

The discounted conversion rate in the DG Fuels Note is considered a redemption feature that is an embedded derivative, which requires bifurcation and separate accounting at its
estimated fair value under ASC 815 – Derivative and Hedging. The embedded derivative upon the purchase of the DG Fuels Tranche 1 Note was an asset of $0.4 million and the
embedded derivative upon the purchase of the DG Fuels Tranche 2 note was an asset of $0.7 million. The estimated fair value of the derivative instruments was recognized as a
derivative asset on the condensed consolidated balance sheets, with an offsetting discount to the DG Fuels Note. The Company amortizes the discount on the Note into interest
income using the effective interest method. The Company recognized interest income from the DG Fuels Note of $0.1 $0.2 million and $0.3 million for the three and six months
ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, and $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three and six months ended March 31, 2023. June 30, 2023, respectively. Interest
income related to the amortization of the debt discount was $0.1 million and $0.1 million for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, respectively, and
$44 $50 thousand and $0.1 million for the three and three six months ended March 31, 2023. June 30, 2023, respectively.

The derivative financial instrument is recorded in other assets in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. At each reporting period, the Company remeasures this derivative
financial instrument to its estimated fair value. The change in the estimated fair value is recorded in other income (expense), net in the consolidated statement of operations and
comprehensive loss. For the three and three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, there was no change in the fair value of the embedded derivative.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending asset balance for the embedded derivative in the DG Fuels Note is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024
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Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Beginning of period

Beginning of period

Beginning of period

Additions

Additions

Additions

Change in fair value

Change in fair value

Change in fair value

End of period

End of period

End of period

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.
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NOTE 8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET

As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, property and equipment, net consisted of the following (amounts in thousands):

March 31,


2024

December 31,


2023

June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

Land

Buildings

Machinery and equipment

Finance lease right-of-use assets – vehicles

Furniture and IT equipment

Leasehold improvements

Construction in progress

Total property and equipment

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization

Property and equipment, net

For the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, June 30, 2024, depreciation and amortization related to property and equipment was $0.2 million $0.4 million and
$0.6 million, respectively, and for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, depreciation and amortization related to property and equipment was $0.2 million and $0.4 million,
respectively.

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, asset impairment and loss on sale of assets totaled $0.6 million, comprised of $0.5 million in asset impairments and $0.1 million
in loss on sale of assets. Asset impairment relates to the write-off of leasehold improvements in the Company’s Westlake Village office due to the Company relocating its corporate
office. The loss on sale of assets relates to the sale of a cement plant at the Company’s R&D site in Switzerland. The Company did not recognize any impairments or loss on sale of
assets during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.

The increases in machinery and equipment and construction in progress primarily relate to the energy storage systems a commercial demonstration unit being constructed in
Snyder, Texas (“Snyder CDU”), a battery energy storage system (“BESS”) being constructed in Snyder Texas (“Snyder BESS”), and a hybrid energy storage system being
constructed in Calistoga, California.

In December 2023, the Company paid $6.3 million to acquire the land that the Snyder CDU will be located on and other related assets. At the time of the purchase, the Company
intended to resell the land that would not be used for the Snyder CDU and all of the other related assets. As such, the Company recorded $6.1 million of the purchase price as
assets held for sale in the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2023. In the second quarter of 2024, the Company decided it would keep the assets that were
initially classified as held for sale and instead develop a 56.9 MW/113.8 MWh BESS on the site in Snyder, Texas. As such, the Company reclassified the property and equipment
from assets held for sale to construction in progress during the three months ended June 30, 2024.
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NOTE 9. INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets are stated at amortized cost and consist of the following (amounts in thousands):

March 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

June 30, 2024 December 31, 2023

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net

Carrying

Amount

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net

Carrying

Amount

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net

Carrying

Amount

Gross

Carrying

Amount

Accumulated

Amortization

Net

Carrying

Amount

Capitalized
software to be
sold
Once a software application is available for general release and is placed in service, the Company amortizes the capitalized costs on a product basis by the greater of the straight-
line method over the estimated economic life of the product, or the ratio that current gross revenues for a product bear to the total current and anticipated future gross revenues for
that product. The useful life for our external-use software development costs is five years. Amortization expense for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 June
30, 2024 was $0.1 million and $— $0.2 million, respectively. There was no amortization expense for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.

Future amortization expense for intangible assets is estimated as follows (amounts in thousands):

Amount

Remainder of 2024

2025

2026

2027

2028

Subtotal

Software projects in process

Total

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.
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NOTE 10. DEBT

In July 2023, the Company entered into a financing agreement related to premiums under certain insurance policies. The Company is obligated to repay the lender an aggregate
sum of $1.1 million through nine equal monthly payments, at an annual interest rate of 7.0%, commencing on July 15, 2023. This financing was fully repaid during the first quarter of
2024.

In September 2023, the Company entered into a financing agreement related to premiums under certain insurance policies. The Company is obligated to repay the lender an
aggregate sum of $0.2 million through four equal monthly payments, at an annual interest rate of 7.0%, commencing on September 15, 2023. This financing was fully repaid during
the first quarter of 2024.

In April 2024, the Company entered into two financing agreements related to premiums under certain insurance policies. For the first financing, the Company is obligated to repay
the lender an aggregate sum of $1.4 million through ten equal monthly payments commencing on April 10, 2024. For the second financing, the Company is obligated to repay the
lender an aggregate sum of $0.4 million through nine equal monthly payments commencing on May 10, 2024. Both financings have an annual interest rate of 7.4%.

As of March 31, 2024, the insurance premiums financings have been fully repaid. As of June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the carrying value of the Company’s insurance
premium financings was $1.2 million and $0.4 million, respectively, and is included in the line item, accrued expenses, in the condensed consolidated balance sheets.
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NOTE 11. SUPPLEMENTAL BALANCE SHEETS DETAIL

(amounts in thousands) (amounts in thousands)

March 31,


2024

December 31,


2023 (amounts in thousands)

June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

Prepaid and other current assets:

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses

Prepaid expenses

Tax refund receivable

Other

Total

Other assets:

Other assets:

Other assets:

Derivative asset — conversion option

Derivative asset — conversion option

Derivative asset — conversion option

Other

Total

Accrued expenses:

Accrued expenses:

Accrued expenses:

Professional fees

Professional fees

Professional fees

Accrued purchases

Employee costs

Taxes payable

Accrued project loss

Insurance premium financings

Warranty accrual

Other

Total

Lease liabilities, current portion:

Lease liabilities, current portion:

Lease liabilities, current portion:

Operating leases

Operating leases

Operating leases

Finance leases

Total

Other long-term liabilities:

Other long-term liabilities:

Other long-term liabilities:

Operating leases

Operating leases

Operating leases

Asset retirement obligation

Warranty accrual

Finance leases
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Warrant liability

Total
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NOTE 12. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

2017 Stock Incentive Plan

In 2017, the Company adopted its 2017 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2017 Plan”) which provided for the granting of stock options, restricted stock, and RSUs to employees, directors,
and consultants of the Company. Options granted under the 2017 Plan were either Incentive Stock Options (“ISOs”) or Nonqualified Stock Options (“NSOs”). Awards under the 2017
Plan were granted for periods of up to ten years. Under the terms of the 2017 Plan, awards were granted at an exercise price not less than the estimated fair value of the shares on
the date of grant, as determined by the Company’s Board of Directors. For employees holding more than 10% of the voting rights of all classes of stock, the exercise price of ISOs
and NSOs was not less than 110% of the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the board of directors. Awards generally vested over one to four
years.

2020 Stock Incentive Plan

In 2020, the Company adopted its 2020 Stock Incentive Plan (the “2020 Plan”). The 2020 Plan provided for the granting of stock options, restricted stock, and RSUs to employees,
directors, and consultants of the Company. Options granted under the 2020 Plan were either ISOs or NSOs. Awards under the 2020 Plan were granted for periods of up to ten
years. Under the terms of the 2020 Plan, awards were granted at an exercise price not less than the estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the
Company’s Board of Directors. For employees holding more than 10% of the voting rights of all classes of stock, the exercise price of ISOs and NSOs was not less than 110% of the
estimated fair value of the shares on the date of grant, as determined by the board of directors. Awards generally vested over one to four years.

2022 Equity Incentive Plan

In 2022, the Company adopted its 2022 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2022 Incentive Plan”). The 2022 Incentive Plan provides for the granting of stock options, stock appreciation
rights (“SARs”), restricted stock, and RSUs to employees, non-employee directors, and consultants of the Company. Shares of common stock underlying awards that expire or are
forfeited or canceled will again be available for issuance under the 2022 Incentive Plan.

The initial number of shares of the Company’s common stock reserved for issuance under the 2022 Incentive Plan was approximately 15.5 million, plus up to approximately
8.3 million shares subject to awards granted under the 2017 and 2020 Plans. Beginning on March 1, 2022 and ending on (and including) March 31, 2031, the number of shares of
the Company’s common stock that may be issued under the 2022 Incentive Plan increases by a number of shares equal to the lesser of (i) 4.0% of the outstanding shares on the
last day of the immediately preceding month or (ii) such lesser number of shares (including zero) that the Company’s Board determines for the purposes of the annual increase for
that fiscal year.

2022 Inducement Plan

In 2022, the Company adopted its 2022 Inducement Plan, which provides for the granting of stock options, SARs, restricted stock, and RSUs to individuals who were not previously
employees of Energy Vault, or following a bona fide period of non-employment, as inducement material to such individuals entering into employment with Energy Vault. Shares of
common stock underlying awards that expire or are forfeited or canceled will again be available for issuance
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under the 2022 Inducement Plan. 8.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance under the 2022 Inducement Plan.
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Stock Option Activity

Stock option activity for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 was as follows (in (amounts in thousands, except per share data):
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Options Outstanding

Number of


Options

Number of


Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price
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Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term (in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Number of


Options

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Per Share

Weighted Average
Remaining
Contractual

Term (in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic

Value

Balance as of December 31, 2023

Stock options granted

Stock options exercised

Stock options forfeited, canceled, or expired

Balance as of March 31, 2024

Balance as of June 30, 2024

Options exercisable as of March 31, 2024

Options exercisable as of March 31, 2024

Options exercisable as of March 31, 2024

Options vested and expected to vest as of March 31, 2024

Options exercisable as of June 30, 2024

Options exercisable as of June 30, 2024

Options exercisable as of June 30, 2024

Options vested and expected to vest as of June 30, 2024
As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, total unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested awards that are expected to vest was $5.1 million $5.2 million. The
weighted-average period over which such stock-based compensation expense will be recognized is approximately 2.07 2.08 years.

The aggregate intrinsic values of options outstanding, exercisable, vested and expected to vest were calculated as the difference between the exercise price of the options and the
closing stock price of the Company’s common stock on the NYSE as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024.

Restricted Stock Units

RSU activity The Company uses the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of stock options. The following table summarizes the assumptions used for
estimating the three fair value of stock options granted during the six months ended March 31, 2024 was as follows (in thousands, except per share data): June 30, 2024.

Number of RSUs

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share

Nonvested balance as of December 31, 2023 19,029  $ 4.55 

RSUs granted 7,409  1.73 

RSUs forfeited (307) 3.24 

RSUs vested (2,110) 4.45 

Nonvested balance as of March 31, 2024 24,021  $ 3.71 

Expected term (in years) 6.25

Expected volatility 95.0 %

Risk-free interest rate 4.40 %

Expected dividend yield — 

As The expected term is the period of March 31, 2024, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to these RSUs was $74.3 million which is time that granted options
are expected to be recognized over outstanding. The Company uses SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 107 simplified method for “plain vanilla” options with the following
characteristics: (i) the share options are granted at market price on the grant date; (ii) exercisability is conditional on performing service through the vesting date; (iii) if an employee
terminates service prior to vesting, the employee would forfeit the share options, (iv) if an employee terminates service after vesting, the employee would have 90 days to exercise
the share options; and (v) the share options are nontransferable and non-hedgeable. The volatility assumption is based on the historical volatility of the Company and peer
companies’ common stock. The risk-free interest rate is based on U.S. treasury rates with an equivalent remaining weighted-average vesting period of approximately 2.10
years.expected term.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(Unaudited)

Restricted Stock Units

RSU activity for the six months ended June 30, 2024 was as follows (amounts in thousands, except per share data):
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Number of RSUs

Weighted Average
Grant Date Fair
Value per Share

Nonvested balance as of December 31, 2023 19,029  $ 4.55 

RSUs granted 9,127  1.60 

RSUs forfeited (1,090) 3.65 

RSUs vested (3,744) 4.75 

Nonvested balance as of June 30, 2024 23,322  $ 3.41 

As of June 30, 2024, unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to these RSUs was $64.5 million which is expected to be recognized over the remaining weighted-
average vesting period of approximately 1.89 years.

The Company issues market-based RSUs that vest upon the Company’s stock reaching certain price targets. For these RSUs, the Company determines fair value by using a Monte
Carlo simulation, which involves random iterations that take different future price paths over the RSU’s contractual life based on appropriate probability distributions (which are
based on commonly applied Black-Scholes inputs). The fair value of each market-based RSU is determined by taking the average grant date fair value under each Monte Carlo
simulation trial. Compensation expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the derived service period and there is no ongoing adjustment or reversal based on actual
achievement during the vesting period. The following table summarizes the assumptions used for estimating the fair value of market-based RSUs granted during the six months
ended June 30, 2024.

Expected term (in years) 4.00

Expected volatility 90.0 %

Risk-free interest rate 4.49 %

Expected dividend yield — 

Stock-Based Compensation Expense

Total stock-based compensation expense for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 is as follows (in (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Sales and marketing $ 1,782  $ 1,727  $ 3,497  $ 3,676 

Research and development 2,059  2,785  4,286  5,934 

General and administrative 5,663  5,581  11,405  14,199 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 9,504  $ 10,093  $ 19,188  $ 23,809 

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.

Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTE 13. REORGANIZATION EXPENSES

In June 2024, the Company implemented a series of cost savings measures. During the three months ended June 30, 2024, the Company recognized reorganization costs of
$1.7 million, consisting of personnel reduction costs, related to these cost saving measures. The Company does not expect to incur additional charges related to these cost
reduction measures.

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 2023

Sales and marketing $ 1,715  $ 1,949 

Research and development 2,227  3,149 

General and administrative 5,742  8,618 

Total stock-based compensation expense $ 9,684  $ 13,716 

Total reorganization expenses for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Sales and marketing $ 288  $ —  $ 288  $ — 

Research and development 503  —  503  — 

General and administrative 918  —  918  — 
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Total reorganization expenses $ 1,709  $ —  $ 1,709  $ — 

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liability balances for reorganization expenses included in the line item, accrued expenses, on the condensed consolidated balance
sheets is as follows (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Beginning of period $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 

Costs charged to expense 1,709  —  1,709  — 

Costs paid or settled —  —  —  — 

End of period $ 1,709  $ —  $ 1,709  $ — 

NOTE 13. 14. INCOME TAXES

The Company did not recognize recognize any tax provision for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023. recognized a tax provision of $4 thousand
for the three and six months ended June 30, 2023. The Company has recorded a valuation allowance against substantially all of the Company’s net deferred tax assets. The
Company provides for a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion of, or all of the Company’s deferred tax assets will not be realized. Due to the
Company’s history of losses, the Company determined that it is not more likely than not to realize its deferred tax assets.

NOTE 14. 15. NET LOSS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK

Basic and diluted net loss per share attributable to common stockholders are calculated as follows (amounts in thousands, except per share amounts):

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024 2023

Net loss $ (21,139) $ (31,167)

Weighted-average shares outstanding – basic and diluted 147,019  139,669 

Net loss per share – basic and diluted $ (0.14) $ (0.22)

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

Net loss attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. $ (26,188) $ (26,162) $ (47,327) $ (57,329)

Weighted-average shares outstanding – basic and diluted 149,143  142,756  148,081  141,129 

Net loss per share – basic and diluted attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. $ (0.18) $ (0.18) $ (0.32) $ (0.41)

There were no common share equivalents that were dilutive for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023. Due to net losses during those periods,
basic and diluted net loss per common share were the same, as the effect of potentially dilutive securities would have been anti-dilutive.

ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC.
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The following outstanding balances of common share equivalent securities have been excluded from the calculation of diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding
because the effect is anti-dilutive for the for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, Three and Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Private warrants

Stock options

RSUs

Total

Total

Total
In connection with the reverse recapitalization in 2022, eligible Energy Vault stockholders immediately prior to the closing of the transaction obtained a contingent right to receive
9.0 million shares of the Company’s common stock (“Earn-Out Shares”) upon the Company’s common stock quoted on the NYSE equaling or exceeding certain specified prices for
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any 20 trading days within a 30 consecutive day trading period (“Earn-Out Triggering Event”). 9.0 million of common stock equivalents subject to the Earn-Out Shares are excluded
from the anti-dilutive table above as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, as the underlying shares remain contingently issuable as the Earn-Out Triggering Events have not been
satisfied.
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NOTE 15. 16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Our principal commitments as of March 31, June 30, 2024 consisted primarily of obligations under operating leases, finance leases, deferred pensions, warranty obligations, and
issued purchase orders. Our non-cancelable purchase obligations as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 totaled approximately $0.4 $5.0 million.

In connection with one of the Company’s licensing agreements, the Company agreed to make a refundable contribution to a customer in the amount up to $25.0 million during the
period in which the customer constructs its first GESS. As of March 31, 2024, the Company has contributed all $25.0 million, which is included within the line item, contract assets,
in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. The refundable contribution will be returned to the Company upon the customer’s first GESS reaching substantial completion,
subject to adjustment for potential liquidated damages if certain performance metrics are not met.

Loss Contingencies:

In the ordinary course of business, the Company is regularly subject to various legal proceedings. The Company has identified certain legal matters where the Company believes an
unfavorable outcome is not probable and, therefore, no reserve has been established. Although the Company currently believes that resolving claims against the Company,
including claims where an unfavorable outcome is reasonably possible, will not have a material impact on the Company’s business, financial position, results of operations, or cash
flows, these matters are subject to inherent uncertainties and the Company’s view of these matters may change in the future.

Assurance Warranty Obligations:

The Company provides a limited warranty to its battery energy storage system (“BESS”) BESS customers assuring that the BESSs are free from defects. The Company’s limited
warranties are generally for a period of two years after the substantial completion date of a project. These warranties are considered assurance-type warranties which provide a
guarantee of quality of the products. For assurance-type warranties, the Company records an estimate of future warranty costs over the period of construction. Warranty costs are
recorded as a component of cost of revenue in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.

As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, the Company accrued the below estimated warranty liabilities, respectively (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023 2024 2023

Warranty balance, beginning of period

Accruals for warranties issued

Change in estimates

Settlements

Warranty balance, end of period
The key inputs and assumptions used in calculating the estimated warranty liability are reviewed by management each reporting period. The Company may make additional
adjustments to the estimated warranty liability based on a comparison of actual warranty results to expected results for significant differences or based on performance trends or
other qualitative
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factors. If actual failure rates or replacement costs differ from our estimates in future periods, changes to these estimates may be required, resulting in increases or decreases in the
estimated warranty liability, which may be material.

Letters of Credit:

In the ordinary course of business and under certain contracts, the Company is required to post letters of credit for its customers, insurance carriers, and surety bond providers for
project performance, and for its vendors for payment guarantees. Such letters of credit are generally issued by a bank or a similar financial institution. The letter of credit commits
the issuer to pay specified amounts to the holder of the letter of credit under certain conditions. As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, there was $22.7 $10.7 million of letters of credit
issued through the Company’s credit relationships. The Company is not
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aware of any material claims relating to its outstanding letters of credit. The Company’s restricted cash balance of $1.0 $6.1 million as of March 31, June 30, 2024 primarily consists
of cash held by banks as collateral for the Company’s letters of credit.

Performance and Payment Bonds:

In the ordinary course of business, Energy Vault is required by certain customers to provide performance and payment bonds for contractual commitments related to its projects.
These bonds provide a guarantee that the Company will perform under the terms of a contract and that the Company will pay its subcontractors and vendors. If the Company fails to
perform under a contract or to pay its subcontractors and vendors, the customer may demand that the surety make payments or provide services under the bond. The Company
must reimburse the surety for expenses or outlays it incurs. As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, there were $28.6 $43.2 million outstanding performance and payment bonds.

Other Bonds:

In the ordinary course of business, Energy Vault is required to obtain other bonds, such as for insurance and government payments. These bonds provide a guarantee that the
Company will post the necessary reserves as required by banks and tax or licensing authorities. Additionally, bonds are issued to banks as support for letters of credit provided by
those banks. As of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, there were $28.8 $13.8 million of outstanding other bonds.

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion and analysis provide information which Energy Vault’s management believes is relevant to an assessment and understanding of Energy Vault’s
consolidated results of operations and financial condition. The discussion should be read together with our unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements, the
respective notes thereto, and other financial information included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report. The discussion and analysis should also be read together with the audited
consolidated financial statements, the respective notes thereto, and other financial information included elsewhere in the Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2023 filed
by us with the SEC on March 13, 2024. This discussion may contain forward-looking statements based upon Energy Vault’s current expectations that involve risks, uncertainties,
and assumptions. Energy Vault’s actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. You should review the section titled “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” for a discussion of forward-looking statements and the section titled “Risk Factors,” for a discussion of factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis and elsewhere in this
Quarterly Report. Energy Vault’s historical results are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for any period in the future. Unless the context otherwise
requires, all references in this Quarterly Report to “we,” “our,” “us,” “the Company,” or “Energy Vault” refer to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries
both prior to the consummation of and following the Merger (as defined below).

Our Business

Energy Vault develops and deploys utility-scale energy storage solutions designed to aid in the global transition to a clean energy future.

Our Company’s comprehensive offerings include proprietary gravity, battery, and green hydrogen energy storage solutions, supported by our technology-agnostic energy
management software solutions. We incorporate a customer-centric, solutions-based approach toward helping utilities, independent power producers, and large industrial energy
users reduce their energy costs while maintaining power reliability. As the world transitions to an economy powered by increasingly intermittent renewable energy such as solar and
wind, the ability to provide clean and affordable electricity to a growing global population will depend heavily on the ability to store and distribute energy at appropriate times. We are
striving to create a world powered by renewable resources so that everyone will have access to clean, sustainable, and affordable energy.

Our solutions are designed to address the intermittency issues inherent in the predominant sources of renewable energy production by storing energy produced when renewable
energy production is active. Once energy is stored in our solutions, it can be discharged to the grid in a controlled and reliable manner at any time, regardless of the then current
ability of the renewable sources to generate power. Our energy storage solutions are designed to accommodate a wide variety of renewable power sources and to achieve an
attractive levelized cost of energy relative to fossil fuels. Collectively, these abilities greatly broaden the use cases and time duration scenarios that can be addressed by certain
sources of renewable power.

Key Factors and Trends Affecting our Business

We believe that our performance and future success depend upon several factors that present significant opportunities for us, but also pose risks and challenges including those
discussed below and in Part I, Item 1A. “Risk Factors” of our 2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 13, 2024.

Product Development and Deployment Plan

We leverage our sustainable and differentiated technologies to provide our customers with economical solutions to meet their short, long, and extended-duration renewable energy
storage needs. Our energy storage solutions are designed to accommodate a wide variety of renewable power sources and to achieve an attractive levelized cost of energy relative
to fossil fuels.

We anticipate that our market will be characterized by high growth and rapidly evolving use cases and requirements. We believe that the majority of our competitors are primarily
focused on the development and marketing of vertically siloed solutions based on a singular energy storage technology. Alternatively, we have strategically chosen to design an
agile and agnostic software platform that can orchestrate the management of not just one energy storage technology, but rather one or more of our diverse storage mediums and

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

26/80

the underlying power generation assets to harmonize asset operation and drive competitive operational performance. We expect that this will broaden the use cases and time
duration scenarios that can be addressed by certain sources of renewable power, and thereby drive a faster transition to more widespread utilization of renewable power.

Our range of energy storage solutions assures our customers have what they need today, as well as what they will need in the future, thereby protecting their investments in our
products within this high-growth market and its rapidly evolving use cases and requirements. For these reasons, we believe we are well positioned to compete successfully in the
evolving market for energy storage solutions.

We primarily rely on two models for project delivery, which are (i) engineering, procurement, and construction (“EPC”) delivery and (ii) engineered equipment (“EEQ”) delivery. Under
the EPC model, we generally rely on third-party EPC firms to construct our storage systems, under our supervision with dedicated teams tasked with project management. Under
the EEQ model, we are responsible for the delivery and installation of the equipment we provide, as well as resolving issues within our scope of supply.

Our cost projections are heavily dependent upon raw materials (such as steel), equipment (such as motors, batteries, inverters, and power electronic devices) and technical and
construction service providers (such as engineering, procurement, construction firms). The global supply chain, on which Energy Vault relies, has been significantly impacted by (i)
economic uncertainties, including the war in Ukraine and the conflict in the Middle East, and (ii) high inflation pressure on project budgeting resulting in potential significant delays
and cost fluctuations, particularly with respect to lithium, transformers, inverters, motors, microchips and many other raw materials that are within the motor and power electronic
supply chains. These future timing and financial developments may impact Energy Vault’s performance from both a deployment and cost perspective.

Energy Storage Industry

We believe climate change poses a monumental risk to humanity and decreasing human generated GHG emissions is currently among the world’s most pressing challenges.
Carbon dioxide is the primary GHG emitted through human activities and, according to the International Energy Agency, the energy sector is estimated to account for more than
75% of global human generated GHG emissions. Burning fossil fuels contributes to climate change by releasing carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide into the atmosphere.

Renewable energy sources present environmental advantages over fossil fuels in terms of finite natural resource usage and GHG emission profile. A major obstacle to transitioning
to renewable sources of energy such as wind and solar is the intermittent availability of these types of energy sources. Energy storage solutions are needed to balance the
production intermittency of variable renewable energy to support a clean-energy future and a balanced electrical grid infrastructure.

The growth of the energy storage market that we address is primarily driven by the decreasing cost of energy storage technologies and renewable power generation sources,
government mandates, financial incentives to reduce GHG emissions, and increasing geopolitical pressures driving energy independence goals. These dynamics are driving
demand for additional renewable power generation and increased capacity and storage duration in energy storage solutions.

According to the 2H 2023 Energy Storage Market Outlook published by BloombergNEF in October 2023, the energy storage market is expected to grow at a “27% compound
annual growth rate through 2030, with annual additions reaching 110 GW/372 GWh, or 2.6 times expected 2023 gigawatt installations.” Both government mandates and companies
focused on reducing energy use, cost, and emissions are expected to propel the shift to renewable sources of power.

Our business depends on the acceptance of our energy storage products in the marketplace. Even if renewable energy and energy storage become more widely adopted than they
have been to date, potential customers may choose energy storage products from our competitors.

Increasing Deployment of Renewable Energy

Deployment of renewable energy resources has accelerated over the last decade, and solar and wind have become low cost energy sources. Energy storage is critical to reducing
the intermittency and volatility of renewable energy generation. However, there is no guarantee that the deployment of renewable energy will occur at the rate that is expected.
Inflationary pressures, supply chain disruptions, geopolitical stresses, and other factors could result in fluctuations in demand for and deployment of renewable energy resources,
adversely affecting our revenue and ability to generate profits in the future.

Competition

The market for our products is competitive, and we may face increased competition as new and existing competitors introduce energy storage solutions and components.
Furthermore, as we expand our services and digital applications in the future, we may face other competitors including software providers and hardware manufacturers that offer
software solutions. If our market share declines due to increased competition or if we are not able to compete as we expect, our revenue and ability to generate profits in the future
may be adversely affected.

Inflation

In the markets in which we operate, there have been higher rates of inflation in recent years. If inflation continues to increase in our markets, it may increase our expenses that we
may not be able to pass through to customers. It may also increase the costs of our products that could negatively impact their competitiveness.

Government Regulation and Compliance

Governments in countries throughout the world have announced and implemented various policies, regulations, and legislation to support the transition from fossil fuels to low-
carbon form of energy, including through the use of energy storage solutions. For example, in August 2022, the United States Congress passed the Inflation Reduction Act (“IRA”).
The IRA provides incentives for the domestic manufacturing of key components of energy storage solutions as well as the construction of standalone energy storage projects. The
resulting improved economics are expected to reduce the cost to implement storage within the domestic market and may amplify and accelerate the adoption of energy storage
systems for short, long, and extended duration use cases, like those offered by Energy Vault. Such government policies and programs are becoming increasingly instrumental in
stimulating adoption of energy storage solutions across different markets through a variety of methods, including by providing financial support, facilitating grid integration, and
supporting research and development.

Although we are not regulated as a utility, federal, state, and local government statutes and regulations concerning electricity heavily influence the market for our products and
services. These statutes and regulations often relate to electricity pricing, net metering, incentives, taxation, competition with utilities and the interconnection of customer-owned
electricity generation. In the United States, governments continuously modify these statutes and regulations. Governments, often acting through state utility or public service
commissions, change and adopt different rates for commercial customers on a regular basis. These changes could affect our ability to deliver cost savings to our current and future
customers for the purchase of electricity. We believe we are well positioned to capture incentives contained in the IRA and that its enactment is favorable to our business and future
operations. However, as this legislation was recently adopted and applicable U.S. Department of Treasury and Internal Revenue Service guidelines were published in the third
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quarter of 2023, we have not yet seen the impact these IRA incentives may have on our business, operations, and financial performance in the future and cannot guarantee that we
will realize the anticipated benefits from the incentives in the IRA.

Recent Developments

In June 2024, the Company executed an engineer, procure, and construct contract with a customer to build a 200 MW/400 MWh BESS in Australia. Additionally, the Company
signed a maintenance agreement with this customer to provide maintenance services on the BESS after construction is completed.

In June 2024, the Company implemented a series of cost savings measures, expected to result in realized cost savings of $3.0 to $4.0 million in the second half of 2024, and $6.0
million to $8.0 million annually. During the three months ended June 30, 2024, the Company recognized reorganization costs of $1.7 million, consisting of personnel reduction costs,
related to these cost saving measures.

Key Operating Metrics

The following tables present our key operating metrics for the periods presented (amounts in thousands unless otherwise noted):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

New bookings $ 182,830  $ 33,093  $ 182,830  $ 33,093 

Cancellations (182,238) —  (182,238) — 

Net bookings $ 592  $ 33,093  $ 592  $ 33,093 

New bookings (in MWh) 400  —  400  — 

Cancellations (in MWh) (400) —  (400) — 

Net bookings (in MWh) —  —  —  — 

June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

June 30,


2023

Developed Pipeline (1) $ 2,781,000 

Developed Pipeline (in GWh) (1) 9,655 

Backlog (2) $ 263,966  $ 275,376  $ 374,589 

Backlog (in MWh) (2) 693  713  313 

__________________

(1) Developed pipeline is a new key operating metric that the Company began tracking during the second quarter of 2024, therefore prior period comparable figures have not been included.

(2) The Company changed its definition of backlog during the second quarter of 2024, therefore the Company has presented the comparable amounts as of December 31, 2023 and June 30, 2023 per the new definition.

Bookings

Bookings represent the total aggregate contract value and total MWhs to be delivered from customer contracts signed during the period, net of the total aggregate value and the
aggregate contracted value for energy storage systems, tolling arrangements, and license and service agreements signed total MWhs of contracts that were cancelled during the
period. The aggregate contracted contract value excludes any potential future variable payments or intellectual property (“IP”) royalties. The Due to the long-term nature of our
contracts, bookings are a key metric that allows us to understand and evaluate the growth of our Company did and our estimated future revenue related to our customer contracts.

Developed Pipeline

Developed pipeline represents uncontracted, potential revenue, from projects in which potential prospective customers have either awarded a project to the Company, or have put
the Company on a shortlist to be awarded a project. Developed pipeline is an internal management metric that we construct using information from our global sales team and is
monitored by management to understand the potential anticipated growth of our Company and to estimate potential future revenue. Developed pipeline is influenced by the
prevailing foreign exchange rates and equipment prices and may vary from period to period if these inputs change.

Developed pipeline may not generate margins equal to our historical operating results. We have only recently begun to track our developed pipeline on a consistent basis as a
performance measure, and as a result, we do not have any bookings during significant experience in determining the three months ended March 31, 2024 and March 31, 2023.

Backlog

Backlog represents the amount level of revenue realization that we expect to realize in the future may achieve on uncompleted construction contracts, including new contracts under
which work has not yet begun, as well as the remaining revenue to be recognized under the Company’s intellectual property licensing agreements. As of March 31, 2024, backlog
totaled $137.5 million.

The Company generally expects to recognize approximately 3% of the backlog as revenue over the next 12 months and the remainder more than 12 months from March 31, 2024.
Timing of revenue for construction and installation projects included in our backlog can be subject to change these potential contracts. Our customers may experience project delays
or cancel orders as a result of customer, regulatory, or other delays or cancellations including from external market factors and economic or other conditions caused by supply chain
disruptions, inflation, weather, and/ factors beyond our control.

Backlog
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Backlog represents contracted but unrecognized revenue from projects and services yet to be completed, unrecognized revenue or other project-related factors. These effects,
among others, could cause estimated income from IP licensing agreements, and unrecognized revenue to be realized in periods later than originally expected, from tolling
arrangements. Backlog excludes any potential future variable payments or not at all. Customers may postpone or cancel construction projects due to changes in their spending
plans, market volatility, changes in government permitting, regulatory delays, and/or other factors. There can be no assurance as to our customers’ requirements or if actual results
will be consistent with our estimates. As a result, our backlog as of any particular date is an uncertain indicator of future revenue and earnings.

IP royalties. Backlog is a common measurement used in our industry. Our methodology for determining backlog may not, however, be comparable to the methodologies used by
others. The Company’s Effective in the second quarter of 2024, we updated our methodology for computing backlog. Under our previous methodology, our backlog agrees with the
amount of was equivalent to our remaining performance obligations which are described under GAAP. We believe our new methodology for computing backlog allows us to better
evaluate the growth of our Company and estimate future revenue.

We cannot guarantee that our backlog will result in Note 3 - Revenue Recognition.

actual revenue in the originally anticipated period, or at all. Our customers may experience project delays or cancel orders as a result of external market factors
and economic or other factors beyond our control. If our backlog fails to result in revenue as anticipated or in a timely manner, we could experience a reduction
in revenue, profitability, and liquidity.

Key Components of Results of Operations

Revenue

The Company generates revenue from the sale and licensing of our energy storage solutions. To date, the Company has primarily generated revenue from the sale of our BESSs
and from licensing our EVx technology. In addition to these sources of revenue, in the future we expect to generate revenue from the sale of our GESSs, the sale or licensing of the
Company’s software solutions, the sale of long-term service agreements to maintain customer owned energy storage systems, and through tolling arrangements in connection with
energy storage systems that we intend to own and operate.

When the Company sells a BESS, the Company recognizes revenue over time as we transfer control of our product to the customer. When the Company licenses its intellectual
property, revenue is recognized at the point in time at which the customer obtains control of the licensed technology.

Our revenue is affected by changes in the price, volume, and mix of products and services purchased by our customers, which is driven by the demand of our products, geographic
mix of our customers, strength of competitor’s product offerings, and the availability of government incentives to the end-users of our products.

Our revenue growth is dependent on continued growth in the number of energy storage systems constructed each year and our ability to increase our share of demand in the
geographic regions where we currently compete and plan to compete in the future. Additionally, our revenue growth is dependent on our ability to continue to develop and
commercialize new and innovative products to meet our customers’ energy storage needs.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue primarily consists of product costs, including purchased materials and supplies, as well as costs related to subcontractors, direct labor, and product warranties.

Our cost of revenue is affected by underlying costs of materials such as batteries, inverters, enclosures, transformers, and cables, as well as the cost of subcontractors to provide
construction services. We do not currently hedge against changes in the price of raw materials as we do not purchase raw materials. We purchase energy storage system
components from our suppliers.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross profit and gross profit margin may vary from period to period due to the timing of transferring control of significant uninstalled materials to customers under contracts to sell
energy storage systems. When control of significant uninstalled materials is transferred to customers, the Company recognizes revenue in an amount equal to the cost of those
materials. The profit margin inherent in these materials is deferred until the Company fulfills its obligation to install the materials during construction of the energy storage systems.
As a result, gross profit and gross profit margin will vary from period to period depending on the timing of revenue recognition related to uninstalled materials.

Additionally, gross profit and gross profit margin may vary from period to period due to our sales volume, product prices, product costs, product mix, geographical mix, along with the
timing of when we perform installation and construction services.

Sales and Marketing (“S&M”) Expenses

S&M expenses consist primarily of internal personnel-related costs for marketing, sales, and related support teams, as well as external costs such as professional service fees,
trade shows, marketing and sales-related promotional materials, public relations expenses, website operating and maintenance costs. Personnel-related expenses include salaries,
benefits, and stock-based compensation expenses.

Research and Development (“R&D”) Expenses

R&D expenses consist primarily of internal and external expenses incurred in connection with our research activities and development programs that include materials costs directly
related to product development, testing and evaluation costs, construction costs including labor and transportation of material, overhead related costs and other direct expenses
consisting of personnel-related expenses and consulting expenses relating to study of product safety, reliability and development. Personnel-related expenses consist of salaries,
benefits, and stock-based compensation expense.

General and Administrative (“G&A”) Expenses
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G&A expenses consist of information technology expenses, legal and professional fees, travel costs, and personnel-related expenses for our corporate, executive, finance, and
other administrative functions, including expenses for professional and contract services. Personnel-related expenses consist of salaries, benefits, and stock-based compensation
expense. To a lesser extent, general and administrative expenses include investor relations costs, insurance costs, rent, office expenses, and maintenance costs.

Depreciation and Amortization Expense

Depreciation and amortization expense consists of costs associated with property and equipment, and amortization of intangibles. We expect to invest in additional property,
equipment, and other assets as we construct and own energy storage systems, which will result in additional depreciation expense in the future.

Asset Impairment and Loss on Sale of Assets

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets consists of losses associated with the write-down or sale of property and equipment.

Interest Income

Interest income consists of interest income from our money market funds, interest-bearing savings accounts, customer financing receivable, and convertible note receivable.

Results of operations

Consolidated Comparison of Three and Six Months Ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 to March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023

The following table sets forth our results of operations for the periods indicated (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

Three Months Ended June 30,

Three Months Ended June 30,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024

Revenue

Revenue

Revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Cost of revenue

Gross profit

Gross profit

Gross profit

Operating Expenses:

Operating Expenses:

Operating Expenses:

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing

Sales and marketing

Research and development

Research and development

Research and development

General and administrative

General and administrative

General and administrative

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets

Loss from operations

Loss from operations

Loss from operations
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Other income (expense):

Other income (expense):

Other income (expense):

Interest expense

Interest expense

Interest expense

Interest income

Interest income

Interest income

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net

Other income (expense), net

Loss before income taxes

Loss before income taxes

Loss before income taxes

Revenue

The Company recognized revenue for the product and service categories as follows for the three and three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023. 2023
(amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

2024

2024

Build and transfer energy storage products

Build and transfer energy storage products

Build and transfer energy storage products

Other

Other

Sale of energy storage products (1)

Maintenance services

Software licensing

Intellectual property licensing

Other

Total revenue

Total revenue

Total revenue

__________________

(1) Includes revenue from the build and transfer of energy storage systems and from the sale of spare parts for energy storage systems. Revenue from the sale of spare parts was included within “Other” in prior periods.

$0.3 million in revenue from the sale of spare parts reported within the “Other” line for the three months ended March 31, 2024 has been included within “Sale of energy storage products” for the six months ended June 30,

2024.

Revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 decreased by $3.7 million $35.9 million to $7.8 million $3.8 million compared to $11.4 million $39.7 million for the
three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 and revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024 decreased by $39.6 million to $11.5 million compared to $51.1 million for
the six months ended June 30, 2023.

The decrease in revenue for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 was primarily attributable to a $3.9 million decrease in revenue from building and transferring the sale of
energy storage products due to a reduction in revenue from battery the build and transfer of BESS projects. Partially offsetting the decrease in revenue from the sale of energy
storage projects. products was revenue from maintenance services of $0.5 million, revenue from software licensing of $0.2 million, and revenue from intellectual property licensing
of $0.1 million. The revenue from providing maintenance services and software licensing are new revenue streams for the Company in 2024 and are from two of the customers that
purchased BESSs. The Company began providing these services to the customers upon substantial completion of their BESSs.
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Revenue from three customers accounted for 46%, 30%, and 14% of total revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2024 and revenue from two customers accounted for 69%
and 19% of total revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024. Revenue from one customer accounted for 90% of total revenue for the three months ended June 30, 2023 and
revenue from two customers accounted for 80% and 14% of total revenue for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 and revenue from three different customers accounted for
43%, 39%, and 16% of total revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2023. June 30, 2023.

Cost of Revenue

Cost of revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 decreased by $3.3 million $33.0 million to $5.7 million $2.7 million compared to $9.0 million $35.7 million
for the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 and cost of revenue for the six months ended June 30, 2024 decreased by $36.3 million to $8.4 million compared to
$44.7 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023.

Cost of revenue decreased as a result of due to the Company’s BESS projects in progress during the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 being in their final
stages, compared to the projects being in earlier stages during the three and six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

Gross For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, gross profit was $2.1 million $1.0 million and $2.4 million $3.1 million, respectively for the three months ended March 31,
2024 and 2023 and gross profit margin was 26.7% 27.8% and 21.2% 27.0%, respectively. For the three and six months ended June 30, 2023, gross profit was $3.9 million and $6.4
million, respectively, and gross profit margin was 9.9% and 12.5%, respectively.

Gross profit and gross profit margin for the three and six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023 were primarily attributable to the advancement of physical progress
on the Company’s BESS projects. The decrease in gross profit for the three and six months ended June 30, 2024 compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 was
due to a decrease in revenue due to the Company’s BESS projects being their final stages in 2024. The increase in gross profit margin for the three and six months ended June 30,
2024 compared to the three and six months ended June 30, 2023 was primarily due to higher margin construction services that were provided in 2024 for the Company’s BESS
projects, compared to the transfer of lower margin equipment for the BESS projects in 2023.

S&M

S&M expenses was $4.9 million for both the three months ended June 30, 2024 and 2023.

S&M expenses decreased by $0.4 million to $4.2 million $9.0 million for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, compared to $4.6 million $9.4 million for the
three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a decrease in personnel-related expenses of $0.5 million $0.4 million, primarily
due to a reduction in headcount.

R&D

R&D expenses decreased by $4.2 million $3.3 million to $7.0 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, compared to $11.2 million $10.2 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a $2.3 million $2.2 million decrease in personnel-related expenses, a $0.8 million decrease
in software expenses, a $0.2 million decrease in engineering costs, and a $0.2 million decrease in consulting costs. The cost decreases were primarily attributable to a focus on cost
controls and a reduction in headcount.

R&D expenses decreased by $7.5 million to $13.9 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, compared to $21.4 million for the six months ended June 30, 2023. The decrease
was primarily attributable to a $3.7 million decrease in personnel-related expenses, a $2.6 million decrease in engineering costs, a $1.5 million $1.0 million decrease in personnel-
related software expenses, and a $0.2 million decrease in consulting costs. The cost decreases were primarily attributable to a focus on cost controls and a reduction in headcount.

G&A

G&A expenses decreased by $0.7 million to $16.3 million for the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to $17.0 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023. The
decrease was primarily attributable to a $0.4 million decrease in software expenses, a $0.3 million decrease in legal costs, and a $0.2 million decrease in personnel-related
expenses. These The cost decreases were primarily attributable to a focus on cost controls and a reduction in headcount.

G&A

G&A expenses decreased by $4.1 million $4.9 million to $15.3 million $31.5 million for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 compared to $19.4 million $36.4
million for the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The decrease was primarily attributable to a $4.0 million $4.2 million decrease in personnel-related expenses
due and a $0.6 million decrease in software expenses. The cost decreases were primarily attributable to a focus on cost controls and a reduction in headcount.

Depreciation and Amortization

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $0.1 million to $0.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, compared to $0.2 million for the three
months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The increase is primarily due to $0.1 million in amortization costs related to the Company’s capitalized software. Certain capitalized
software products were placed into service effective January 1, 2024, resulting in $0.1 million in amortization expense during the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024.
There was no comparable expense for the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023.

Depreciation and amortization expense increased by $0.1 million to $0.6 million for the six months ended June 30, 2024, compared to $0.4 million for the six months ended June 30,
2023. The increase is primarily due to $0.2 million in amortization costs related to the Company’s capitalized software. Certain capitalized software products were placed into service
effective January 1, 2024, resulting in $0.2 million in amortization expense during the six months ended June 30, 2024. There was no comparable expense for the six months ended
June 30, 2023.

Asset Impairment and Loss on Sale of Assets

For the three and six months ended June 30, 2024, asset impairment and loss on sale of assets totaled $0.6 million, comprised of $0.5 million in asset impairments and $0.1 million
in loss on sale of assets. Asset impairment relates to the write-off of leasehold improvements in the Company’s Westlake Village office due to the Company relocating its corporate
office. The loss on sale of assets relates to the sale of a cement plant at the Company’s R&D site in Switzerland. The Company did not recognize any impairments or loss on sale of
assets during the three and six months ended June 30, 2023.
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Interest income Income

Interest income decreased by $0.1 million $0.5 million to $1.8 million $1.7 million for the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 compared to $1.9 million $2.3 million for
the three months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023 and interest income decreased by $0.7 million to $3.6 million compared to $4.2 million for the six months ended June 30,
2024. The decrease in interest income is primarily due to a decrease in interest income from our money market funds.

Other income (expense) Income (Expense), Net

Other expense, net decreased by $0.1 million to $22 thousand for the three months ended June 30, 2024 compared to $0.1 million for the three months ended June 30, 2023.

Other income (expense), net improved by $1.8 million $1.9 million to other income, net of $1.7 million $1.6 million for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024
compared to other expense, net of $0.2 million $0.3 million for the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023. The change in other income (expense), net is primarily due
to a $1.5 million gain resulting from the derecognition of a contract liability with a related party during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024. In 2019, the
Company received a $1.5 million deposit for a gravity-based system from a customer that was owned by one of its primary shareholders. During the three six months ended March
31, 2024 June 30, 2024, the Company concluded it was no longer obligated to provide a gravity-based system to the customer and that the deposit was nonrefundable. As a result,
the Company derecognized the $1.5 million liability and recognized it as a gain during the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024. There was no such comparable
gain during the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources of Liquidity

Since inception, we have financed our net cash used in operating and investing activities primarily through the issuance and sale of equity, and with the proceeds from the reverse
recapitalization and private investment in public equity that occurred in 2022. Our cash equivalents are highly liquid investments purchased with an original or remaining maturities of
three months or less. Substantially all of our restricted cash balance is held by banks as collateral for the Company’s letters of credit.

The following table summarizes our cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash balances as of March 31, June 30, 2024 and December 31, 2023 (amounts in thousands):

March 31,


2024

December 31,


2023

June 30,


2024

December 31,


2023

Cash and cash equivalents

Restricted cash

Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash

Management believes that its cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash on hand as of the filing date of this Quarterly Report will be sufficient to fund our operating activities for at
least the next twelve months without regard to any cash proceeds we may receive in the future upon the exercise of our private warrants.

The exercise price for any of our private warrants is $11.50 per warrant, subject to certain specified adjustments. To the extent that the price of our common stock exceeds $11.50
per share, it is more likely that our private warrant holders will exercise their warrants. To the extent that the price of our common stock declines, including a decline below $11.50
per share, it is less likely that our private warrant holders will exercise their warrants.

In addition, should Energy Vault enter into definitive collaboration and/or joint venture agreements or engage in business combinations in the future, we may be required to seek
additional financing.

Energy Vault has incurred negative operating cash flows and operating losses in the past. We may continue to incur operating losses in the future due to our on-going research and
development activities. We may seek additional capital through equity and/or debt financings depending on market conditions. If we are required to raise additional funds by issuing
equity securities, dilution to stockholders would result. Any equity securities issued may also provide for rights, preferences or privileges senior to those of holders of our common
stock. If we raise funds by issuing debt securities, these debt securities would have rights, preferences and privileges senior to those of holders of common stock. The terms of debt
securities or borrowings could impose significant restrictions on our operations. The credit market and financial services industry have in the past, and may in the future, experience
periods of uncertainty that could impact the availability and cost of equity and debt financing.

Licensing Agreements with Extended Payment Terms

The Company has licensed its gravity storage technology and certain of these agreements contain extended payment terms. There is uncertainty as to the collectability of the
license payments in certain licensing agreements, and the Company has not yet recognized any revenue related to those license agreements where collectability is uncertain.

Anticipated cash inflows from licensing agreements with extended payment terms as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 were as follows (amounts in thousands):

Amount

Remainder of 2024

2025

2026
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2027

2028

Thereafter

Total
Contractual Obligations

Our principal commitments as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 consisted primarily of obligations under operating leases, finance leases, deferred pensions, warranty obligations,
and issued purchase orders. Our non-cancellable purchase obligations as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 totaled approximately $0.4 $5.0 million.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes cash flows from operating, investing, and financing activities for the periods indicated (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Net cash used in operating activities

Net cash used in investing activities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effects of exchange rate changes on cash

Net decrease in cash
Operating Activities

During the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, cash provided by (used in) used in operating activities totaled $0.9 million $11.8 million and $(70.8)
million, $91.8 million, respectively.

During the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, operating cash flows were negatively impacted by a net loss of $47.3 million and a decrease in operating liabilities
of $59.7 million. The decrease in operating liabilities was primarily attributable to a $62.7 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses, partially offset by a $3.5
million increase in deferred revenue. Operating cash flows were positively impacted by a $59.7 million $75.2 million decrease in operating assets and non-cash charges of $9.6
million $20.0 million. The decrease in operating assets was primarily attributable to a $33.6 million $51.0 million decrease in contract assets and a $25.9 million $23.8 million
decrease in accounts receivable, and a $0.8 million decrease in prepaid expenses and other current assets. receivable. The non-cash charges were primarily composed of $9.7
million $19.2 million in stock-based compensation expense, and $0.3 million $0.6 million in depreciation and amortization, $0.6 million in asset impairments and loss on sale of
assets, and a $0.4 million provision for credit losses, partially offset by $0.4 million $0.8 million in non-cash interest income. Operating cash flows were negatively impacted by a net
loss of $21.1 million and a decrease in operating liabilities of $47.2 million. The decrease in operating liabilities was primarily attributable to a $42.1 million decrease in accounts
payable and accrued expenses and a $4.8 million decrease in contract liabilities.

During the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, cash used in operating activities of $70.8 91.8 million was negatively impacted by a net loss of $31.2 57.3 million,
an increase in operating assets of $35.5 million $50.9 million, and a decrease in operating liabilities of $17.8 million $7.7 million. The increase in operating assets was primarily due
to a $67.3 million $54.9 million increase in advances to suppliers related to equipment purchases for our BESS projects, and a $1.3 million $34.8 million increase in contract assets
primarily due to an increase in unbilled receivables. These increases in operating assets were partially offset by a $33.4 million $32.3 million decrease in accounts
receivable. receivable, a $4.4 million decrease in inventory, and a $2.1 million decrease in prepaid and other current assets. The decrease in operating liabilities was primarily due to
a $54.1 million $46.0 million decrease in accounts payable and accrued expenses, partially offset by a $36.6 million $38.9 million increase in contract liabilities. deferred revenue.
Operating cash flows were positively impacted by non-cash charges of $13.7 million $24.1 million, which was primarily due to $13.7 million $23.8 million in stock-based
compensation expense.

Investing Activities

During the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 and 2023, cash used in investing activities totaled $8.8 million $20.8 million and $17.6 million $24.8 million,
respectively.

Cash used in investing activities for the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 consisted of $8.6 million $21.1 million for the purchase of property and equipment,
primarily related to the construction of the Snyder CDU, Snyder BESS, and the hybrid energy storage systems system being constructed in Snyder, Texas and Calistoga, California,
and partially offset by $0.2 million for in proceeds from the purchase sale of property and equipment. a cement plant at the Company’s R&D site in Switzerland.

Cash used in investing activities for the three six months endedMarch 31, 2023  June 30, 2023 consisted of $11.6 million $18.8 million for the purchase of property and equipment,
primarily related to the construction of the Snyder CDU and the hybrid energy storage systems system being constructed in Snyder, Texas and Calistoga, California, and California.
Additionally, the Company purchased $6.0 million for the purchase of equity securities in KORE.

Financing Activities
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During the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, cash used in provided by financing activities totaled $0.7 million $0.4 million, compared to cash used in financing
activities of $0.8 million $4.5 million for the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023.

For the three six months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, cash used in provided by financing activities primarily consisted of $0.4 million was attributable to $1.7 million in
repayments on proceeds from insurance premium financings, and partially offset by $0.8 million in insurance premium financing repayments, $0.3 million in tax payments related to
the net settlement of equity awards. awards, and $0.2 million in payments for finance lease obligations.

During the three six months ended March 31, 2023 June 30, 2023, cash used in financing activities was primarily attributable to $0.8 million $4.6 million in tax payments related to
the net settlement of equity awards. awards, partially offset by $0.1 million in cash proceeds from the exercise of stock options.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

To complement our condensed consolidated statements of operations, we use non-GAAP financial measures of adjusted S&M expenses, adjusted R&D expenses, adjusted G&A
expenses, adjusted operating expenses, and adjusted EBITDA. Management believes that these non-GAAP financial measures complement our GAAP amounts and such
measures are useful to securities analysts and investors to evaluate our ongoing results of operations when considered alongside our GAAP measures. The presentation of these
non-GAAP measures is not meant to be considered in isolation or as an alternative to net loss as an indicator other measures of our performance. financial performance calculated
in accordance with GAAP. These non-GAAP measures and their reconciliation to GAAP financial measures are shown below.

The following table provides a reconciliation from GAAP S&M expenses to non-GAAP adjusted S&M expenses (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

S&M expenses (GAAP)

S&M expenses (GAAP)

S&M expenses (GAAP)

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Reorganization expenses

Adjusted S&M expenses (non-GAAP)

Adjusted S&M expenses (non-GAAP)

Adjusted S&M expenses (non-GAAP)
The following table provides a reconciliation from GAAP R&D expenses to non-GAAP adjusted R&D expenses (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

R&D expenses (GAAP)

R&D expenses (GAAP)

R&D expenses (GAAP)

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense
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Reorganization expenses

Adjusted R&D expenses (non-GAAP)

Adjusted R&D expenses (non-GAAP)

Adjusted R&D expenses (non-GAAP)

The following table provides a reconciliation from GAAP G&A expenses to non-GAAP adjusted G&A expenses (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

2024

2024

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

G&A expenses (GAAP)

G&A expenses (GAAP)

G&A expenses (GAAP)

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Reorganization expenses

Adjusted G&A expenses (non-GAAP)

Adjusted G&A expenses (non-GAAP)

Adjusted G&A expenses (non-GAAP)

The following table provides a reconciliation from GAAP operating expenses to non-GAAP operating expenses (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2023 2024 2023

S&M expenses (GAAP) $ 4,861  $ 4,852  $ 9,031  $ 9,426 

R&D expenses (GAAP) 6,951  10,218  13,917  21,396 

G&A expenses (GAAP) 16,278  17,012  31,542  36,412 

Operating expenses (GAAP) 28,090  32,082  54,490  67,234 

Non-GAAP adjustment:

Stock-based compensation expense 9,504  10,093  19,188  23,809 

Reorganization expenses 1,709  —  1,709  — 

Adjusted operating expenses (non-GAAP) $ 16,877  $ 21,989  $ 33,593  $ 43,425 

The following table provides a reconciliation from net loss to non-GAAP adjusted EBITDA, with net loss being the most directly comparable GAAP measure (amounts in thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended March 31,

Three Months Ended June 30, Six Months Ended June 30,

2024 2024 2023 2024 2023

2024

2024

Net loss (GAAP)

Net loss (GAAP)
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Net loss (GAAP)

Non-GAAP adjustments:

Non-GAAP adjustments:

Net loss attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. (GAAP)

Non-GAAP adjustments:

Interest income, net

Interest income, net

Interest income, net

Provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Provision for income taxes

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Stock-based compensation expense

Gain on derecognition of contract liability

Gain on derecognition of contract liability

Reorganization expenses

Gain on derecognition of contract liability

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets

Foreign exchange losses

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets

Foreign exchange losses

Asset impairment and loss on sale of assets

Foreign exchange losses

Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP)

Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP)

Adjusted EBITDA (non-GAAP)
We present adjusted EBITDA, which is net loss attributable to Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. excluding adjustments that are outlined in the quantitative reconciliation provided above,
as a supplemental measure of our performance and because we believe this measure is frequently used by securities analysts, investors, and other interested parties in the
evaluation of companies in our industry. The adjusted EBITDA measure excludes the financial impact of items management does not consider in assessing our ongoing operating
performance, and thereby facilitates review of our operating performance on a period-to-period basis.

In evaluating adjusted EBITDA, one should be aware that in the future we may incur expenses similar to the adjustments noted above. Our presentation of adjusted EBITDA should
not be construed as an inference that our future results will be unaffected by these types of adjustments. Adjusted EBITDA is not a measurement of our financial performance under

GAAP and should not be considered as an alternative to net loss, operating loss, or any other performance measures derived in accordance with GAAP or as an alternative to cash
flow from operating activities as a measure of our liquidity.

Our adjusted EBITDA measure has limitations as an analytical tool, and should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for analysis of our results as reported under GAAP.
Some of these limitations are:

• it does not reflect our cash expenditures, future requirements for capital expenditures, or contractual commitments;

• it does not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

• it does not reflect stock-based compensation, which is an ongoing expense;

• although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will often have to be replaced in the future, and our adjusted
EBITDA measure does not reflect any cash requirements for such replacements;

• it is not adjusted for all non-cash income or expense items that are reflected in our condensed consolidated statements of cash flows;

• it does not reflect the impact of earnings or charges resulting from matters we consider not to be indicative of our ongoing operations;

• it does not reflect limitations on or costs related to transferring earnings from our subsidiaries to us; and
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• other companies in our industry may calculate this measure differently than we do, limiting its usefulness as a comparative measure.

Because of these limitations, adjusted EBITDA should not be considered as a measure of discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business or as a measure
of cash that will be available to use to meet our obligations. You should compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using adjusted EBITDA only
supplementally.

Critical Accounting Estimates

The preparation of these financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

There have not been any changes to our critical accounting policies and estimates as compared to those disclosed under the caption Critical Accounting Policies and Use of
Estimates in Item 7 Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations included in the 2023 Annual Report of on Form 10-K filed with the SEC
on March 13, 2024.

Emerging Growth Company Accounting Election

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in Section 2(a) of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and have irrevocably elected to take advantage of the benefits of this
extended transition period for new or revised financial accounting standards. We are expected to remain an emerging growth company through the end of 2026 and expect to
continue to take advantage of the benefits of the extended transition period. This may make it difficult or impossible to compare our financial results with the financial results of
another public company that is either not an emerging growth company or is an emerging growth company that has chosen not to take advantage of the extended transition period
exemptions for emerging growth companies because of the potential differences in accounting standards used.

Recently Adopted and Issued Accounting Pronouncements

Recently issued and adopted/unadopted accounting pronouncements are described in Note 2 of the unaudited condensed consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in
this Quarterly Report.

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position because of adverse changes in financial market prices and rates.

Foreign Currency Risk

The majority of our contracts with customers are denominated in U.S. dollars, and certain of our definitive agreements could be denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar,
including the Euro, the Swiss franc, the Australian dollar, the South African rand, the Brazilian real, and the Saudi riyal. A strengthening of the U.S. dollar could increase the cost of
our solutions to our international customers, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

In addition, a portion of our revenue is earned and a portion of our operating expenses are incurred outside the United States and are denominated in foreign currencies, such as
the euro Euro, the Swiss franc, and the Swiss franc, Australian dollar, and are subject to fluctuations due to changes in foreign currency exchange rates. If we increase our exposure
to foreign currencies and are not able to successfully hedge against the risks associated with currency fluctuations, our results of operations could be adversely affected.

Inflation Risk

Our operations could be adversely impacted by inflation, primarily from higher material, labor, and construction costs. While it is difficult to measure the impact of inflation for such
estimates accurately, we believe, if our costs are affected due to significant inflationary pressures, we may not be able to fully offset higher costs through price increases or other
corrective measures, which may adversely affect our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Credit Risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty may default on its contractual obligations resulting in a loss to us. Our customers include the counterparties for the sale of our energy
storage products and solutions and the licensees of our intellectual property. The loss of one or more of our significant customers, their inability to perform under their contracts, or
their default in payment could harm our business and negatively impact revenue, results of operations, and cash flows. Credit policies have been approved and implemented to
assess our existing and potential customers with the objective of mitigating credit losses. These policies establish guidelines, controls, and credit limits to manage credit risk within
approved tolerances by mandating an appropriate evaluation of the financial condition of existing and potential customers, monitoring agency credit ratings, and by implementing
credit practices that limit exposure according to the risk profiles of the counterparties. In addition, customers are required to make milestone payments based on their project’s
progress. We may also, at times, require letters of credit, parent guarantees, or cash collateral when deemed necessary.

Our overall exposure may be affected positively or negatively by macroeconomic or regulatory changes that may impact our counterparties. Currently, management does not
anticipate a material adverse effect in our financial position or results of operations from the non-performance of a customer. We continuously monitor the creditworthiness of all our
customers.

Commodity Price Risk

We are subject to risk from fluctuating market prices of certain commodity raw materials, including cement, steel, aluminum, and lithium, which are used in the components that we
purchase from our suppliers and then as inputs to our products. Prices of these raw materials may be affected by supply restrictions or other logistic costs market factors from time
to time. As we are not the direct buyer of these raw materials, we do not enter into hedging arrangements to mitigate commodity risk. Significant price changes for these raw
materials could reduce our operating margins if suppliers increase component prices and we are unable to recover such increases from our customers and could harm our business,
financial condition, and results of operations.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

In designing and evaluating our disclosure controls and procedures, management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can
provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control objectives. In addition, the design of disclosure controls and procedures must reflect the fact that there are
resource constraints, and that management is required to apply judgment in evaluating the benefits of possible controls and procedures relative to their costs.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, evaluated, as of the end of the period covered by this Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on that evaluation of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure controls and
procedures as of such date are effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting identified in management’s evaluation pursuant to Rules 13a-15(d) or 15d-15(d) of the Exchange Act during
the quarter ended March 31, June 30, 2024 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Part II-Other Information

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

Energy Vault has been and continues to be involved in legal proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of business, the outcome of which, if determined adversely to Energy
Vault, would not individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on Energy Vault’s business, financial condition, and results of operations. From time to time, Energy
Vault may become involved in additional legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of its business.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

There have not been any Except as set forth below, as of the date of this report, there are no material changes to our risk factors as previously disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our
2023 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 13, 2024. You should carefully consider the risks set forth in Part 1, Item 1A, Risk Factors, of the Company’s 2023
Annual Report, and all other information included in this Quarterly Report before making an investment decision. Our business, financial condition, and results of operations could be
materially and adversely affected by any of these risks or uncertainties.

Government control of currency conversion and expatriation of funds may affect our liquidity.

We have customers and subsidiaries located in jurisdictions that impose or may impose controls on the convertibility of the local currency into foreign currencies and, in certain
cases, the remittance of currency out of the jurisdiction. Therefore, we may experience delays, restrictions or limitations in completing the administrative procedures necessary to
obtain and remit foreign currency to the Company, which could have a material effect on our liquidity and our business. Shortages in the availability of foreign currency in countries
in which we transact, or the impossibility or difficulties in complying with the requirements and approvals of local authorities may delays, restrict or limit the ability of our customer to
covert the amount owed to us to U.S. dollars and remit such amount to us, thus materially affecting our liquidity and business.

Our total backlog, bookings and developed pipeline may not be indicative of our future revenue, which could have a material adverse impact on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Our backlog represents contracted but unrecognized revenue from projects and services yet to be completed, unrecognized revenue or other income from IP licensing agreements,
and unrecognized revenue from tolling arrangements. Backlog excludes any potential future variable payments or IP royalties. As of June 30, 2024, backlog totaled $264.0 million.
Our bookings represent the total aggregate contract value (excluding any potential future variable payments or intellectual property royalties) and total MWhs to be delivered from
customer contracts signed during the period, net of the total aggregate value and total MWhs of contracts that were cancelled during the period. For the three months ended June
30, 2024 bookings totaled $0.6 million. Our developed pipeline represents uncontracted, potential revenue, from projects in which potential prospective customers have either
awarded a project to the Company, or have put the Company on a shortlist to be awarded a project. As of June 30, 2024, developed pipeline totaled $2.8 billion.

There can be no assurance that our backlog, bookings and developed pipeline will result in actual revenue in the future in any particular period, or at all. This is because the actual
receipt, timing, and amount of revenue under contracts included under backlog, bookings and developed contracts are subject to various contingencies, many of which are beyond
our control. Our failure to realize revenue from contracts included in the total amounts estimated under backlog, bookings and developed pipeline could have a material adverse
impact on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, our contracts with customers are subject to delays and cancellations. Generally, a customer can cancel an order prior to installation, and, notwithstanding the fact that a
customer’s termination for convenience may obligate the customer to pay us certain fees, we may be unable to recover some of our costs in connection with design, permitting,
installation, and site preparations incurred prior to cancellation. Cancellation rates in our industry could increase in any given period, due to factors outside of our control including an
inability to install an energy storage system at the customer’s chosen location because of permitting or other regulatory issues, unanticipated changes in the cost or availability of
alternative sources of electricity available to the customer, or other reasons unique to each customer. Our operating expenses are based on anticipated sales levels, and certain of
our expenses are fixed. If we are unsuccessful in closing sales after expending significant resources or if we experience delays or cancellations, our business could be materially
and adversely affected.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

None.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.
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Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

(a) Disclosure in lieu of reporting on a Current Report on Form 8-K.

On April 5, 2024, we entered into a retention bonus agreement with Akshay Ladwa, the Company’s Chief Engineering Officer, in an aggregate amount equal to $150,000, which will
be payable in substantially equal installments on or before April 15, 2024, July 15, 2024, and October 15, 2024, subject to his continued service on each payment date and may be
subject to repayment if Mr. Ladwa’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason within 12 months following each applicable payment date.

On May 1, 2024, the Board approved a discretionary cash bonus payable to Robert Piconi, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, in an aggregate amount equal to $279,450,
which will be payable in equal installments on or shortly following April 15, 2025, July 15, 2025, and October 15, 2025, subject to his continued service on each payment date and
subject to repayment if Mr. Piconi’s employment with the Company terminates for any reason within 12 months following each applicable payment date. None.

(b) Material changes to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to the board of directors.

None.

(c) Insider trading arrangements and policies.

During the three months ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024, no director or officer of the Company adopted or terminated a “Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-
1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit


Number

Incorporated by Reference

Description of Document Schedule/Form File Number Exhibit Number Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. 8-K 001-39982 3.1 February 14, 2022

3.2 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energy Vault Holdings,
Inc.

8-K 001-39982 3.2 February 14, 2022

10.1** Employment Agreement by and between Energy Vault, Inc. and Akshay Ladwa,
dated as of October 6, 2023

10.2** Retention Bonus Agreement by and between Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. and
Robert Piconi, dated as of April 5, 2024

10.3** Retention Bonus Agreement by and between Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. and
Akshay Ladwa, dated as of April 5, 2024

10.4 Separation and General Release Agreement by and between Energy Vault
Holdings, Inc. and Jan Kees van Gaalen, dated as of April 15, 2024

8-K/A 001-39982 10.1 April 19, 2024

31.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer required under Rule 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

31.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer required under Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104** Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101)
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Exhibit


Number

Incorporated by Reference

Description of Document Schedule/Form File Number Exhibit Number Filing Date

3.1 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. 8-K 001-39982 3.1 February 14, 2022

3.2 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Energy Vault Holdings,
Inc.

8-K 001-39982 3.2 February 14, 2022

10.1 Form of Offer Letter, dated as of April 4, 2024, by and between Michael T. Beer
and Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.

8-K 001-39982 10.1 April 4, 2024

31.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer required under Rule 13a-14(a) and
15d-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

31.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer required under Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-
14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended

32.1** Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS** XBRL Instance Document

101.CAL** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.SCH** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.DEF** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE** XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104** Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as inline XBRL and contained in
Exhibit 101)

_____________________

** Filed herewith

^    The certifications attached as Exhibit 32.1 and 32.2 that accompany this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are not deemed filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and
are not to be incorporated by reference into any filings of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended, whether made before or after the date of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, irrespective of any general incorporation language contained in such filing.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.

Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.

Date: May 8, 2024 August 6, 2024 By: /s/ Robert Piconi

Name: Robert Piconi

Title: Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 8, 2024 August 6, 2024 By: /s/ Michael Beer

Name: Michael Beer

Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)
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EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT between Energy Vault, Inc. and Akshay Ladwa This EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of October 6, 2023, is made between Energy Vault, Inc. (the “Company”) and Akshay Ladwa
(the “Executive”) (collectively referred to herein as the “Parties” or individually referred to as a “Party”). RECITALS (A) The Company and Executive are parties to that certain Offer Letter, dated as of September 30, 2021, as amended from
time to time (the “Prior Agreement”). (B) It is the desire of the Company to continue to assure itself of the services of Executive on the terms set forth in this Agreement effective as of October 6, 2023, and Executive wishes to render such
services to the Company upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth. (C) By entering into this Agreement, the Company and Executive acknowledge and agree that the Prior Agreement will automatically terminate and shall have

no further force and effect and shall be superseded in its entirety by this Agreement. AGREEMENT NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and of the respective covenants and agreements set forth below, the Parties
hereto agree as follows: 1. Position and Duties. Your current position is Chief Engineering Officer reporting to Robert A. Piconi, Chairman, Co-Founder & Chief Executive Officer. You shall perform duties consistent with your position in a

professional and competent manner, and throughout your employment with the Company devote your time to such matters as the Company may reasonably require. You shall use your best efforts to complete all assignments and adhere
to the Company’s procedures and policies in effect. 2. Compensation. Your gross annual base salary is $420,000.00 subject to standard withholdings and authorized deductions, and payable on a bi-weekly basis in accordance with the
Company’s normal payroll practices. By virtue of your duties, responsibilities, and compensation, your role is an exempt position, meaning you are not eligible for overtime compensation. Your salary is subject to modification during your
employment in accordance with the Company’s practices, policies, or procedures. 3. Annual Performance Bonus. You will be eligible for an annual discretionary performance bonus each fiscal year based on the Company’s achievement

of individual and company performance targets set each calendar year. Each year, your target bonus opportunity will be 75% of your Base Salary. Actual payments will be determined based on the Company’s performance, your
performance, and at the sole good faith discretion of the Company. You must be employed by the Company at the time of payment to be eligible to earn or receive an Annual Bonus. Annual Bonuses, if any, will be paid within 2½ months

after the close ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	�� Exhibit 10.1
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 2 of 24 of the fiscal year to which the Annual Bonus relates. The Annual Bonus is not earned until paid and no pro- rated amount will be paid if your employment with the Company ends due to
resignation or termination for Cause (as defined below) prior to the payment date. For purposes of this Agreement “Cause” shall include, but is not limited to: (a) willful failure to substantially perform Executive’s duties with the Company
(other than any such failure resulting from Executive’s physical or mental illness) or failure in any material respect to carry out or comply with any lawful and reasonable directive of the CEO or Board; (b) dishonesty, willful misconduct or

fraud in connection with your employment by the Company; (c) commission of a reportable violation of any applicable banking, securities or commodities laws, rules or regulations that constitutes a serious offense that could or does result
in a significant fine; (d) conviction or plea of nolo contendere (or equivalent) to or commission of a felony or any crime involving moral turpitude; (e) engaging in sexual, racial, or other forms of unlawful discrimination, harassment, or

retaliation; or (f) a material violation of the Company’s Code of Conduct. 4. Remote Work. If applicable, you will perform your work for the Company remotely – from any location within the United States. By accepting the Company’s offer
of employment, you agree that you will keep the Company informed of your remote work location and will not relocate to a new remote work location without first informing the Company and obtaining the Company’s consent (including by

e-mail). Further, you understand and agree that, when directed by the Company, you may be required to attend meetings or work out of the Company’s offices in Westlake Village, California or Lugano, Switzerland, in addition to any
necessary work-related travel. When working outside of the Company’s offices, you agree to remain accessible, to check in with your manager to discuss status and open questions as needed, and to be available to physically attend
scheduled work meetings as requested or required by the Company. While working remotely, you agree to maintain a safe, secure, and ergonomic work environment and to report work-related injuries to your manager at the earliest

reasonable opportunity. You also agree to protect Company-owned equipment, records, and materials from unauthorized or accidental access, use, modification, destruction, or disclosure. You understand that all equipment, records, and
materials provided by the Company shall remain the property of the Company. 5. Benefits. In addition to your compensation, you will be eligible to receive the benefits that are generally offered to all Company employees, subject to any

eligibility requirements and terms set forth in any applicable policies or plans (if any), effective the first of the month following your hire date (except as otherwise provided in such policies or plans). Currently, the Company’s benefits
include medical plans, dental plans, and a vision plan. The Company reserves the right to change or rescind its benefit plans and programs and alter employee contribution levels in its discretion. A full description of these benefits is

available upon request. 6. Sick Leave. You will be entitled to sick leave benefits, in accordance with the Company’s standard policies and in accordance with applicable federal, state, and/or local law. 7. Flexible Time Off. You will be able
to use Flexible Time Off (FTO) with pay during current and subsequent years of employment in accordance with the Company’s FTO policy. 8. Holidays. You will be paid for designated holidays in accordance with the Company’s holiday

schedule, as set forth in the Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. Employee Handbook. This schedule is subject to change at the discretion of the Company. 9. Termination. a. Definitions: For purposes of this Agreement:
������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 3 of 24 i. “Change in Control” has the meaning set forth in the Company’s 2022 Equity Incentive Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a “Change in Control” must also constitute a “change in control
event,” as defined in Treasury Regulation §1.409A-3(i)(5). ii. “Change in Control Period” means the period commencing on the consummation of a Change in Control and ending 18 months following the consummation of such Change in
Control. iii. “Good Reason” means, without your express written consent, the occurrence of any of the following circumstances: (A) a material reduction or material expansion in the nature or scope your duties, responsibilities, authority,
powers or functions, or reporting line as compared to your duties, responsibilities, authority, powers or functions, or reporting line before such reduction or expansion, as applicable ; (B) a material reduction in your Base Salary or target

Annual Bonus percentage (except for across-the-board reductions based on the Company’s financial performance similarly affecting substantially all senior management employees); or (C) you are relocated more than 60 miles from your
current work location; provided, however, that any such condition or conditions, as applicable, shall not constitute Good Reason unless both (x) you provide written notice to the Company of the condition claimed to constitute Good

Reason within 60 days of the initial existence of such condition(s), and (y) the Company fails to remedy such condition(s) within 30 days of receiving such written notice thereof; and provided, further, that in all events the Termination shall
not constitute a Termination for Good Reason unless such Termination occurs not more than 90 days following the initial existence of the condition claimed to constitute Good Reason. For the avoidance of doubt, if you retain the same or
substantially similar position at the Company after a Change in Control, but the Company becomes a division or subsidiary of the successor, it would result in a material reduction in your role. iv. “Termination” means (a) termination of your
employment by the Company with Cause; (b) termination of your employment by the Company without Cause; (c) termination of your employment by you for Good Reason (as defined below); or (d) termination of your employment by you
without Good Reason or due to your death or disability. b. Upon your Termination for any reason, you will be entitled to receive the sum of: (i) the portion of your Base Salary earned through the date of Termination, but not yet paid to you;
(ii) any expenses owed to you; and (iii) any amount accrued and arising from your participation in, or benefits accrued under any employee benefit plans, programs or arrangements, which amounts shall be payable in accordance with the

terms and conditions of such employee benefit plans, programs or arrangements (collectively, the “Company Arrangements”). Except as otherwise expressly required by law or as specifically provided in a Company Arrangement or
herein, all of your rights to salary, severance, benefits, bonuses and other compensatory amounts hereunder (if any) shall cease upon your Termination. c. If your Termination is by the Company without Cause or by you for Good Reason,

then, subject to your delivery to the Company of an executed waiver and release of claims in a form approved by the Company (the “Release”) that becomes effective and irrevocable in accordance with Section 15(c) below, and your
continued compliance with any applicable restrictive covenants, you will receive, in addition to payments and benefits set forth in Section 11(b) above, the following: i. A lump sum cash payment equal to one year of your Base Salary

payable on the first regular payroll date following 60 days after the date of Termination. If the triggering ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 4 of 24 termination is within the Change in Control Period, the lump sum cash payment will be equal to the product of (A) 1.5 and (B) the sum of your Base Salary and your target Annual Bonus. ii. A
pro rata portion of your target Annual Bonus for the fiscal year in which the date of Termination occurs under the Company’s annual incentive compensation plan, calculated by multiplying (A) your target Annual Bonus by (B) a fraction, (1)
the numerator of which is the number of days in the fiscal year in which the date of Termination occurs through and including the date of Termination, and (2) the denominator of which is three hundred sixty-five (365), payable on the first

regular payroll date following 60 days after the date of Termination; iii. If the triggering termination is within the Change in Control Period (to the extent permitted by Section 409A (as defined below)), all of the then-unvested shares subject
to each of your then-outstanding equity awards, which were granted pursuant to the Company’s 2017 Stock Incentive Plan, 2020 Stock Plan, 2022 Equity Incentive Plan, or other comparable Company equity plan, will immediately vest
and except as otherwise required by Section 409A, any restricted stock units or similar full value awards will be settled on the 60th day following your Termination; and iv. during the period commencing on the date of Termination and

ending 18 months thereafter or, if earlier, the date on which you become eligible for comparable replacement coverage under a subsequent employer’s group health plan (in any case, the “COBRA Period”), subject to your valid election to
continue healthcare coverage under Section 4980B of the Code (as defined below) and the regulations thereunder, the Company shall, in its sole discretion, either (A) continue to provide to you and your dependents, at the Company’s

sole expense, or (B) reimburse you and your dependents for coverage under its group health plan (if any), at the same levels and costs in effect on the date of Termination (excluding, for purposes of calculating cost, an employee’s ability
to pay premiums with pre-tax dollars); provided, however, that if (1) any plan pursuant to which such benefits are provided is not, or ceases prior to the expiration of the continuation coverage period to be, exempt from the application of

Section 409A under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(a)(5), (2) the Company is otherwise unable to continue to cover you or your dependents under its group health plans or (3) the Company cannot provide the benefit without
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violating applicable law (including, without limitation, Section 2716 of the Public Health Service Act), then, in any such case, an amount equal to each remaining Company subsidy shall thereafter be paid to you in substantially equal
monthly installments over the COBRA Period (or remaining portion thereof). 10. Employee Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure, and Inventions Assignment Agreement. In connection with your employment with the Company, you will receive
and have access to Company confidential information and trade secrets. Accordingly, enclosed with this Agreement as Attachment 1 (and incorporated herein by reference) is an Employee Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure, and Inventions
Assignment Agreement (“CNIAA”), which contains restrictive covenants and prohibits unauthorized use or disclosure of the Company’s confidential information and trade secrets, among other obligations. Please review the CNIAA and

only sign it after careful consideration of its terms. Your offer of employment is contingent on your execution of the enclosed CNIAA, which is incorporated herein by reference. 11. Prior Agreements. You represent that you have disclosed
to the Company any and all agreements relating to your prior employment that may affect your eligibility to be employed by the Company or limit the ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 5 of 24 manner in which you may be employed. It is the Company’s understanding that any such agreements will not prevent you from performing the duties of your position and you represent that
such is the case. 12. At-Will Employment. Your employment with the Company is “at-will.” This means that, just as you may resign from the Company at any time for any lawful reason or no reason, the Company may terminate your

employment at any time, with or without Cause, and with or without notice. Notwithstanding that your employment is at-will, the Company requests and appreciates that if you decide to leave the Company, you provide as much advance
notice as reasonably practicable. 13. Tax Matters. a. Withholding. All forms of compensation referred to in this Agreement are subject to reduction to reflect applicable withholding and payroll taxes and other deductions required by law.
Regardless of the amount withheld or reported, you are solely responsible for all taxes on compensation under this agreement (including imputed compensation) except the employer’s share of employment taxes. b. Tax Advice. You are

encouraged to obtain your own tax advice regarding your compensation from the Company. You agree that the Company does not have a duty to design its compensation policies in a manner that minimizes your tax liabilities, and you will
not make any claim against the Company or its Board of Directors related to tax liabilities arising from your compensation. c. Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code. All payments and other compensation described in this Agreement

are intended to comply with or be exempt from the requirements of Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) Section 409A and the regulations and guidance promulgated thereunder (collectively “Section 409A”). This
Agreement shall be interpreted consistently with that intent, provided that nothing in this agreement shall be construed as a warranty of tax treatment or otherwise to transfer liability for any tax under Section 409A from you to the

Company or any of its affiliates. In no event whatsoever shall the Company or any of its current or future affiliates or their respective advisors, agents, attorneys, representations or successors be liable for any additional tax, interest or
penalties that may be imposed on you by Section 409A or any damages for failing to comply with Section 409A. Each installment in a series of payments shall be treated as a separate payment. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement
to the contrary, any compensation or benefits payable under this Agreement that is considered nonqualified deferred compensation under Section 409A and is designated under this Agreement as payable upon your Termination shall be

payable only upon your “separation from service” with the Company within the meaning of Section 409A. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if you are deemed by the Company at the time of your Termination to be
a “specified employee” for purposes of Section 409A, to the extent delayed commencement of any portion of the benefits to which you are entitled under this Agreement is required in order to avoid a prohibited distribution under Section

409A, such portion of your benefits shall not be provided to you prior to the earlier of (1) the expiration of the six-month period measured from the date of your Termination with the Company or (2) the date of your death. Upon the first
business day following the expiration of the applicable Section 409A period, all payments deferred pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be paid in a lump sum to you (or your estate or beneficiaries), and any remaining payments due

to you under this Agreement shall be paid as otherwise provided herein. ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 6 of 24 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, to the extent that any payments due under this Agreement as a result of your Termination are subject to your execution and delivery
of a Release, (A) the Company will deliver the Release to you within seven business days following your date of Termination, and the Company’s failure to deliver a Release prior to the expiration of such seven business day period shall
constitute a waiver of any requirement to execute a Release, (B) if you fail to execute the Release on or prior to the Release Expiration Date (as defined below) or timely revoke your acceptance of the Release thereafter, you will not be

entitled to any payments or benefits otherwise conditioned on the Release, and (C) in any case where your date of Termination and the Release Expiration Date fall in two separate taxable years, any payments required to be made to your
that are conditioned on the Release and are treated as nonqualified deferred compensation for purposes of Section 409A will be made on the first payroll period to occur in the subsequent taxable year. For purposes hereof, “Release

Expiration Date” shall mean (1) if you are under 40 years old as of the date of Termination, the date that is seven days following the date upon which the Company timely delivers the Release to you, and (2) if you are 40 years or older as
of the date of Termination, the date that is 21 days following the date upon which the Company timely delivers the Release to you, or, in the event that your termination of employment is “in connection with an exit incentive or other

employment termination program” (as such phrase is defined in the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967), the date that is 45 days following such delivery date. d. Section 280G of the Internal Revenue Code. Notwithstanding any
other provisions of this Agreement or any other company arrangement, in the event that any payment or benefit by the Company or otherwise to or for your benefit, whether paid or payable or distributed or distributable pursuant to the

terms of this Agreement or otherwise (all such payments and benefits, being hereinafter referred to as the “Total Payments”), would be subject (in whole or in part) to the excise tax imposed by Code Section 4999 (the “Excise Tax”), then
the Total Payments shall be reduced (in the order provided below) to the minimum extent necessary to avoid the imposition of the Excise Tax on the Total Payments, but only if (i) the net amount of such Total Payments, as so reduced

(and after subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income and employment taxes on such reduced Total Payments and after taking into account the phase out of itemized deductions and personal exemptions attributable to
such reduced Total Payments), is greater than or equal to (ii) the net amount of such Total Payments without such reduction (but after subtracting the net amount of federal, state and local income and employment taxes on such Total
Payments and the amount of the Excise Tax to which you would be subject in respect of such unreduced Total Payments and after taking into account the phase out of itemized deductions and personal exemptions attributable to such

unreduced Total Payments). The Total Payments shall be reduced in the following order: (i) reduction on a pro-rata basis of any cash severance payments that are exempt from Section 409A, (ii) reduction on a pro-rata basis of any non-
cash severance payments or benefits that are exempt from Section 409A, (iii) reduction on a pro-rata basis of any other payments or benefits that are exempt from Section 409A, and (iv) reduction of any payments or benefits otherwise

payable to you on a pro-rata basis or such other manner that complies with Section 409A; provided, in case of subclauses (ii), (iii) and (iv), that reduction of any payments attributable to the acceleration of vesting of Company equity
awards shall be first applied to Company equity awards that would otherwise vest last in time. The Company will select an adviser with experience in performing calculations regarding the applicability of Code Section 280G and the Excise

Tax, provided that the adviser’s determination shall be made based upon “substantial authority” within the meaning of Code Section 6662, (the ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 7 of 24 “Independent Advisors”) to make determinations regarding the application of this Section 15(d). The Independent Adviser shall provide its determination, together with detailed supporting
calculations and documentation, to you and the Company within 15 business days following the date on which your right to the Total Payments is triggered, if applicable, or such other time as requested by you (provided, that you

reasonably believe that any of the Total Payments may be subject to the Excise Tax) or the Company. The costs of obtaining such determination and all related fees and expenses (including related fees and expenses incurred in any later
audit) shall be borne by the Company. Any good faith determinations of the Independent Adviser made hereunder shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the Company and you. In the event it is later determined that to implement the
objective and intent of this Section 15(d), (i) a greater reduction in the Total Payments should have been made, the excess amount shall be returned promptly by you to the Company or (ii) a lesser reduction in the Total Payments should

have been made, the excess amount shall be paid or provided promptly by the Company to you, except to the extent the Company reasonably determines would result in imposition of an excise tax under Section 409A. 14. Mutual
Arbitration Agreement. To the maximum extent permitted by law, you and the Company agree that all claims, disputes and controversies of any kind arising out of, relating to or in any way associated with this Agreement and/or your

employment by the Company or the termination of that employment, including but not limited to all common, constitutional, contract and tort law theories and statutory claims under federal, state and/or local law, shall be submitted to and
resolved through final and binding arbitration, before a single arbitrator licensed to practice law and experienced in employment law, and administered by JAMS (http://www.jamsadr.com/) pursuant to its Employment Arbitration Rules &

Procedures (the “JAMS Rules”) (available at https://www.jamsadr.com/rules-employment-arbitration/) in effect at the inception of the arbitration, incorporated herein by reference, except as modified or supplemented herein. The arbitration
shall take place at JAMS’s office in (or nearest to) your (last) primary work location for the Company, unless the parties agree to a different location or as otherwise required by law. This agreement to arbitrate applies to all claims that the
Company may have against you, as well as all claims that you may have against the Company, including any of the Company’s affiliates, parents, subsidiaries, successors, assigns, owners, directors, officers, shareholders, employees,

managers, members, and agents. Claims not subject to this agreement to arbitrate are expressly limited to: (i) claims for workers’ compensation, disability benefits or unemployment compensation benefits; (ii) claims based on any pension
or welfare plan or collective bargaining agreement, the terms of which may contain arbitration or other non-judicial dispute resolution procedure; (iii) any unfair labor practice charge which is to be brought under the National Labor
Relations Act; (iv) sexual assault or sexual harassment disputes arising under federal, tribal, or state law which you elect not to pursue in arbitration; and/or (v) claims which may not be arbitrated as a matter of law. Nothing in this

agreement to arbitrate precludes you from filing an administrative charge/complaint of discrimination with the U.S. Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”), or any similar federal, state, or local government agency for
purposes of exhausting your administrative remedies, to the extent required by law; however, any claims, action or lawsuit seeking damages, injunctive relief or other monetary or non-monetary relief by you based on such administrative
charges/complaints must be brought in arbitration, in accordance with this agreement to arbitrate, except as to sexual assault or sexual harassment disputes which you elect to pursue in court. You acknowledge that, should the EEOC,

DFEH or any local government agency pursue claims on your behalf, you have waived your right to recover any money from the Company, other than amounts recoverable through arbitration pursuant to this agreement to arbitrate, if any.
������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 8 of 24 Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in JAMS’s rules, the arbitrator shall: (a) have the authority to compel adequate discovery for the resolution of the dispute and to award such relief as
would otherwise be permitted by law; (b) issue a written arbitration decision, to include the arbitrator’s essential findings and conclusions and a statement of the award; and (c) be authorized to award any or all remedies that you or the

Company would be entitled to seek in a court of law. However, the arbitrator shall have no authority or power to award any remedy in excess of what a party would be able to obtain in a court of law. The arbitrator may hear and determine
any dispositive issue of law asserted by you or the Company to the same extent a court could hear and determine a dispositive motion. In ruling on such motions and the admissibility of evidence, the arbitrator shall apply the standards
under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, the Federal Rules of Evidence, and case law thereunder. The decision of the arbitrator will be final, conclusive, and binding on the parties to the arbitration. Judgment may be entered on the

arbitrator’s decision in any court having jurisdiction. Nothing herein shall be construed to preclude a party’s application for temporary or preliminary injunctive relief to a court of relevant jurisdiction, in furtherance of arbitration. Except as to
sexual assault or sexual harassment disputes, the arbitrator has exclusive authority to resolve any dispute relating to the interpretation, applicability, or enforceability of this Agreement (including this agreement to arbitrate therein). Any
party’s right to appeal or to seek modification of rulings by the arbitrator is strictly limited by the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”). The Parties agree that the Company is engaged in interstate commerce and that, except as provided in this
Agreement, the FAA shall govern the interpretation and enforcement of, and all proceedings pursuant to, this agreement to arbitrate. Except as otherwise provided under the FAA or other applicable federal law, this Agreement shall be

governed by the laws of the state where you are/were last employed by the Company, without reference to any state’s or country’s choice of law provisions to the contrary. Except as otherwise prohibited by law, neither you, the Company,
nor the arbitrator may disclose the existence, content, or results of any arbitration hereunder without the prior written consent of all parties to the arbitration, except to your respective attorneys and tax advisors without any written consent
of the other, provided such persons/entities first agree to be bound by this confidentiality provision. Either party may disclose the existence and results of any arbitration in a proceeding to enforce or appeal an arbitral award, as provided
under applicable law. The fees of the arbitrator and all other costs that are unique to the arbitration process shall be paid by the Company if and to the extent required by law. Otherwise, each party shall be solely responsible for paying
his/her/their/its own costs for the arbitration, including but not limited to attorneys’ fees. However, if either party prevails on a claim which affords the prevailing party attorneys’ fees pursuant to law, statute, or contract, the arbitrator may

award reasonable attorneys’ fees to the prevailing party. You understand and agree that claims must be brought by either you or the Company in your individual capacity, not as plaintiffs or class members in any purported class or
collective proceeding, and the arbitrator shall not have the power to hear the arbitration as a class or collective action or otherwise combine claims by multiple parties in a single arbitration (“Class/Collective Action Waiver”). If this
Class/Collective Action Waiver is found to be unenforceable, in whole or in part, any offending provisions shall be severed from this Agreement. To the greatest extent permitted by law, claims must be brought by either you or the

Company in your individual capacity, not as representatives in any representative proceeding, and the arbitrator shall not have the power to hear any claims on a representative basis (“Representative Action Waiver”). If this Representative
Action Waiver is found to be unenforceable, it shall be severed from this Agreement. ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 9 of 24 You and the Company agree and acknowledge that this agreement to arbitrate is supported by good and valuable consideration, including, without limitation, the Parties’ mutual agreement to
arbitrate and your at-will employment with the Company. BY AGREEING TO SUBMIT THE CLAIMS TO ARBITRATION, YOU AND COMPANY ARE HEREBY WAIVING THE RIGHT TO A TRIAL IN COURT, INCLUDING THE RIGHT TO
A JURY TRIAL. 15. Reservation of Rights. Nothing in this Agreement or the CNIAA shall prohibit you from: (a) discussing or disclosing information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or discrimination or any other
conduct that you have reason to believe is unlawful or (b) speaking with or providing information to law enforcement, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, the United States Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, and/or
any other similar state or local fair employment practices agencies. 16. Indemnification. Contemporaneous with the Parties’ execution of this Agreement, you and the Company will also execute the Company’s standard Indemnification
Agreement applicable to officers. 17. Complete Agreement. This Agreement, the CNIAA, and the attachments referenced herein, supersede and replace any prior agreements, representations or understandings (whether written, oral,

implied or otherwise) between you and the Company including, but not limited to, any representations made during your interviews, and constitute the complete agreement between you and the Company regarding the subject matters set
forth herein. This letter, including, but not limited to, its at-will employment provision, may not be amended or modified, except by an express written agreement signed by both you and a duly authorized officer of the Company. 18.

Severability. The invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability of any provision, subsections, or sentences contained in this Agreement, or any terms hereof, shall not affect the legality, validity or enforceability of any other provision or term of this
Agreement. This Agreement will be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained in this Agreement. If moreover, any one or more of the provisions contained in this Agreement will for any reason

be held to be excessively broad as to duration, geographical scope, activity or subject, it will be construed by limiting and reducing it, so as to be enforceable to the extent compatible with the applicable law as it will then appear. For
purposes of federal immigration law, you will be required to provide the Company documentary evidence of your identity and eligibility for employment in the United States. Such documentation must be provided to us within three (3)

business days of your first day of employment with the Company, or our employment relationship with you may be terminated. You should be aware that the Company participates in E-Verify, a federal government system used to verify the
employment authorization and social security number of each new employee. By signing this Agreement, you acknowledge that the terms described in this Agreement, together with the CNIAA and other attachments, set forth the entire

understanding between you and the Company and supersedes any prior representations or agreements, whether written or oral; there are no terms, conditions, representations, warranties or covenants other than those contained herein.
No term or provision of this letter may be amended waived, released, discharged or modified except in writing, signed by you and an authorized officer of the Company except that the Company may, in its sole discretion, adjust salaries,
incentive compensation, benefits, job titles, locations, duties, responsibilities, and reporting relationships. We hope that you will accept our offer of employment set forth in this Agreement. After you have had an opportunity to review this

Agreement, kindly sign your name and the date at the end of this Agreement to signify your understanding and acceptance of these terms. ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 10 of 24 To accept this offer, sign and return this Agreement within three (3) business days from the date of this letter. This Agreement may be executed and delivered by facsimile signature, PDF or
any electronic signature complying with the U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000 (e.g., www.docusign.com) – DocuSign is preferred. If we do not receive a signed copy of this Agreement, the offer reflected in this letter may be withdrawn.
Should you have any questions regarding this letter or the terms of your at-will employment with the Company, please feel free to contact me. Sincerely, Gonca Icoren Chief People Officer Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. Attachments 1.

Employee Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure, and Inventions Assignment Agreement (with exhibits) I have read and accept this employment offer. SIGNATURE OF Akshay Ladwa ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���
��������� �	�� /s/ Gonca Icoren /s/ Akshay Ladwa
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 11 of 24 ATTACHMENT 1 ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC. EMPLOYEE CONFIDENTIALITY, NON-DISCLOSURE, NON-SOLICITATION, AND INVENTIONS ASSIGNMENT AGREEMENT This
Employee Confidential, Non-Disclosure, and Inventions Assignment Agreement (“Agreement”) is entered into as of the date of its execution (the “Effective Date”) by and between Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), and Akshay

Ladwa (“Employee”). In consideration of the promises and mutual covenants herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, it is mutually covenanted and agreed
by and between the parties as follows: 1. Confidential Information Protections. a. Company Information; Nondisclosure. Employee shall at all times during the term of Employee’s employment with the Company and thereafter, hold in

strictest confidence, and not use, disclose to any person, firm or corporation without written authorization of the Board, lecture upon, or publish any Confidential Information (as defined herein) of the Company and its employees, except: (i)
except as necessary in carrying out Employee’s work for the Company; (ii) to the extent a member of the Board of the Company expressly authorizes such disclosure in writing; or (iii) as required by law, legal process, or as otherwise

expressly permitted herein. Employee will take all reasonable precautions to prevent the inadvertent accidental disclosure of “Confidential Information." As used herein, “Confidential Information” means any proprietary information,
technical data, trade secrets or know-how, including, but not limited to, research, product plans, products, services, investors, business partners, customer lists and customers (including, but not limited to, those of the Company on whom

Employee has called or with whom Employee became acquainted during the term of Employee’s employment), markets, software, developments, inventions, ideas, processes, formulas, technology, designs, drawings, engineering,
hardware configuration information, marketing, finances or other business information disclosed to Employee by the Company or any of its employees, either directly or indirectly in writing, orally or by drawings or observation of parts or

equipment. “Confidential Information” does not include any of the foregoing items which has become publicly known and made generally available through no wrongful act of Employee or of others who were under confidentiality
obligations as to the item or items involved, or if Employee can prove such information was already in Employee’s possession prior to Employee’s employment with the Company. Further, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1833(b), Employee shall

not be held criminally or civilly liable under any Federal or State trade secret law for the disclosure of a trade secret that: (1) is made in confidence to a Federal, State, or local government official, either directly or indirectly, or to an
attorney, and solely for the purpose of reporting or investigating a suspected violation of law; or (2) is made in a complaint or other document filed in a lawsuit or other proceeding, if such filing is made under seal. Further, Employee is
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hereby advised that an individual who files a lawsuit for retaliation by an employer for reporting a suspected violation of law may disclose the trade secret to the attorney of the individual and use the trade secret information in the court
proceeding, if the individual: (a) files any document containing the trade secret under seal; and (b) does not disclose the trade secret, except pursuant to court order. b. Former Employer Information. Employee shall not, during Employee’s
employment with the Company, improperly use or disclose any confidential or proprietary information or trade secrets, if any, of any former or concurrent employer or other person or entity to whom or to which Employee has an obligation
of confidentiality, and Employee shall not bring onto the premises of the Company any unpublished document, property, or proprietary information belonging to any such employer, person or entity unless consented to in writing by such

employer, person or entity. ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 12 of 24 c. Third Party Information. Employee shall hold all confidential or proprietary information that the Company has received from any third party to which it is the Company’s obligation to
maintain the confidentiality of such information (“Third Party Information”) and to use it only for certain limited purposes in the strictest confidence and not to disclose it to any person, firm or corporation or to use it except as necessary in

carrying out Employee’s work for the Company consistent with the Company’s agreement with such third party. During Employee’s employment and thereafter, Employee will hold Third Party Information in confidence and will not disclose
to anyone (other than Company personnel who need to know such information in connection with their work for the Company) or use, except in connection with Employee’s work for the Company, Third Party Information unless expressly

authorized by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company in writing. 2. Inventions. Employee hereby represents, warrants and covenants with respect to Prior Inventions or Inventions (each, as defined below), as the case may be, as
follows: a. Inventions Retained and Licensed. Attached hereto, as Exhibit A, is a list describing all inventions, original works of authorship, developments, improvements, and trade secrets which were made by Employee prior to

Employee’s employment with the Company (collectively referred to as “Prior Inventions”), which belong to Employee, which relate to the Company’s proposed business, products or research and development, and which are not assigned
to the Company hereunder; or, if no such list is attached, Employee hereby represents that there are no such Prior Inventions. If in the course of Employee’s employment with the Company, Employee uses or incorporates into a product,
process, service, or machine of Company or any of its wholly owned subsidiaries, a Prior Invention owned by Employee or in which the Employee has an interest, or if Employee’s rights in any Prior Inventions may block or interfere with,

or may otherwise be required for, the Company is hereby granted and shall have a nonexclusive, fully paid and royalty-free, irrevocable, perpetual, transferable, worldwide license, with rights to sublicense through multiple levels of
sublicensees, to make, reproduce, make derivative works of, distribute, use, sell, import, have made, modify, use and sell such Prior Invention as part of or in connection with such product, process or machine, to the fullest extent

permitted by law. Employee represents and agrees that in the event of any dispute regarding the creation or ownership of any invention, any such disputed invention that may relate to the Company’s business or actual or demonstrably
anticipated research or development will be presumed to have been created after the commencement of Employee’s employment with the Company unless Employee is able to conclusively demonstrate, beyond any question of doubt,
that the invention in question was made by Employee or acquired by Employee prior to the commencement of Employee’s employment with, and therefore is not to be assigned to, the Company. To the extent that any third parties have
rights in any such Prior Inventions, Employee hereby represents and warrants that such third party or parties have validly and irrevocably granted to Employee the right to grant the license stated above. b. Ownership. Employee agrees
that, throughout Employee’s employment with the Company, all inventions, discoveries and improvements, whether patentable or unpatentable, and all works of authorship, whether copyrightable or uncopyrightable, made, developed,
conceived, modified, acquired, devised, discovered or created by Employee, whether solely or jointly with others, whether by using the Company’s equipment, supplies, facilities, trade secrets, Confidential Information or otherwise, and

which relate to or pertain in any way at the time of conception or reduction to practice of the invention or of creation of the work of authorship to the business of the Company, or the actual or demonstrably anticipated research or
development of the Company, or which result from any work performed by Employee for the Company (hereinafter “Work Product”), shall be promptly disclosed in writing by Employee to the Company, and whether disclosed or not, shall

be the exclusive property of the Company or its assignee(s). c. Works for Hire. Employee acknowledges that all Work Product shall be deemed and considered “works made for hire” under the copyright laws of the United States (including
17 U.S.C. § 101) (“Work for Hire”); and moreover, that all right, title and interest therein, including all rights of copyright, patent or otherwise, in the United States and in all foreign countries, in any form or medium and in all fields of use

now known or hereafter ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 13 of 24 existing, shall belong exclusively to the Company. Employee acknowledges that the Company is under no obligation to Employee, monetary or otherwise, in connection with such Work for
Hire. d. Assignment. To the extent an assignment is necessary to perfect the Company’s ownership of any Work Product or Work for Hire described above in this Section 2, Employee hereby irrevocably assigns to the Company or its
assignee, all of Employee’s right, title and interest therein, and agrees that neither the Company, nor its divisions or affiliates, are under further obligation, monetary or otherwise, to Employee for such assignment. Employee agrees to

assist the Company in every proper way to obtain, and from time to time enforce, United States and foreign intellectual property rights and moral rights relating to Work Product or Works for Hire in any and all countries. Employee agrees
to execute, acknowledge and deliver to the Company, its successors and assigns, all documentation, including, but not limited to, applications for patents and/or copyrights, as the Company may deem necessary or desirable to obtain and

perfect the interests of the Company, its successors and assigns, in any and all countries, in such Work Product and/or Works for Hire, and to vest title thereto in the Company. Employee understands and agrees that Employee’s
obligation to assist the Company with respect to intellectual property rights relating to such Work Product and/or Works for Hire in any and all countries will continue beyond the termination of Employee’s employment. In the event the
Company is unable for any reason, after reasonable effort, to secure Employee’s signature on any document needed in connection with the actions specified in this Section, Employee hereby irrevocably designates and appoints the

Company and its duly authorized officers and agents as Employee’s agent and attorney in fact, which appointment is coupled with an interest, to act for and on Employee’s behalf to execute, verify and file any such documents and to do
all other lawfully permitted acts to further the purposes of this Section with the same legal force and effect as if executed by Employee. Employee hereby waives and quitclaims to the Company any and all claims, of any nature

whatsoever, which Employee now or may hereafter have for infringement of any intellectual property rights assigned under this Agreement to the Company. Employee acknowledges that the Company is under no further obligation,
monetary or otherwise, to Employee in connection with any such assignment. e. Excluded Inventions. For employees who work for the Company in Delaware, Illinois, Kansas, Minnesota, Nevada, North Carolina, Utah, and/or Washington,

the assignment set forth in this Section 2 shall not apply to any invention that is covered by the provisions of any applicable specific inventions statute (“Specific Inventions Law”) set forth in the Inventions Assignment Notice attached
hereto as Exhibit B. f. Inventions Assigned to the United States. Employee shall assign to the United States government all Employee’s right, title, and interest in and to any and all Inventions whenever such full title is required to be in the

United States by a contract between the Company and the United States or any of its agencies. g. Maintenance of Records. Employee shall keep and maintain adequate and current written records of all Confidential Information
developed by the Employee and all Inventions made solely or jointly with others during the term of Employee’s employment with the Company. The records will be in the form of notes, sketches, drawings, and any other format that may be
specified by the Company. The records will be available to and remain the sole property of the Company at all times. h. Obligation to Keep the Company Informed. Any Employee who works for the Company in Delaware, Illinois, Kansas,
Minnesota, Nevada, North Carolina, Utah, and/or Washington agrees to advise the Company promptly in writing of any inventions that Employee believes meet the criteria in any Specific Inventions Law set forth in Exhibit B that Employee

has not otherwise already disclosed on Exhibit A, during the period of Employee’s employment with the Company and for one (1) year after the termination of employment. In addition, Employee will promptly disclose to the Company all
patent applications filed by Employee or on Employee’s behalf within one (1) year after the termination of employment. The Company will keep in confidence and will not use for any purpose or disclose to third parties without Employee’s

consent any confidential information disclosed in writing to the Company pursuant to this Agreement relating to inventions that qualify fully for protection under any ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���
��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 14 of 24 applicable Specific Inventions Law (if any). Employee will preserve the confidentiality of any invention that does not fully qualify for protection under a Specific Inventions Law. 3. Duty of
Loyalty During Employment. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Employee agrees that during the period of employment by the Company, Employee will not, without the Company’s express written consent, directly or indirectly engage in
any employment or business activity which is directly or indirectly competitive with, or would otherwise conflict with, Employee’s employment by the Company. 4. No Conflicting Employment, Agreement, or Obligation. Employee represents

that Employee’s performance of all the terms of this Agreement and as an employee of the Company does not and will not breach any agreement to keep in confidence information acquired by Employee in confidence or in trust prior to
employment by the Company. Employee has not entered into, and Employee agrees not to enter into, any agreement either written or oral in conflict with this Agreement. Employee shall perform Employee’s duties faithfully and to the best
of Employee’s ability and shall devote Employee’s full business time and effort to the performance of Employee’s duties hereunder. Employee shall not, during the term of Employee’s employment with the Company, engage in any other

employment, occupation, consulting or other business activity directly related to the business in which the Company, or its parent corporations, subsidiaries, and/or affiliates are now involved or become involved during the term of
Employee’s employment, nor will Employee engage in any other activities that conflict with Employee’s obligations to the Company. 5. Returning Company Documents. At the time of leaving the employ of the Company, Employee

covenants that Employee shall deliver to the Company (and will not keep in Employee’s possession, recreate or deliver to anyone else) any and all devices, records, data, notes, reports, proposals, lists, correspondence, specifications,
drawings, blueprints, sketches, materials, equipment, other documents or property, social media content, social media followers and social media access to password information, or reproductions of any aforementioned items developed

by Employee pursuant to Employee’s employment with the Company or otherwise belonging to the Company, its successors or assigns, including, without limitation, those records maintained pursuant to Section 2. Employee agrees not to
copy, delete, or alter any information contained upon Employee’s Company computer or Company equipment before Employee returns it to the Company. In addition, if Employee has used any personal computer, server, or e-mail system
to receive, store, review, prepare or transmit any Company information, including but not limited to, Confidential Information, Employee agrees to provide the Company with a computer useable copy of all such Confidential Information and
then permanently delete and expunge such Confidential Information from those systems; and Employee agrees to provide the Company access to Employee’s system as reasonably requested to verify that the necessary copying and/or
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deletion is completed. Employee further agrees that any property situated on the Company’s premises and owned by the Company, including disks and other storage media, filing cabinets or other work areas, is subject to inspection by
the Company’s personnel at any time with or without notice. 6. Notification of New Employer. In the event that Employee leaves the employ of the Company, Employee agrees to grant consent to notification by the Company to Employee’s

new employer about Employee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. 7. Non Solicitation of Employees, Consultants, Contractors, Customers or Potential Customers. Employee agrees that during the period of Employee’s
employment and for the one (1) year period after the date Employee's employment ends for any reason, including but not limited to voluntary termination by Employee or involuntary termination by the Company, and for any extension of
such period as set forth below, Employee will not, as an individual, officer, director, employee, consultant, owner, partner, or in any other capacity, either directly or through others, except on behalf of the Company or as approved by the

Company in writing: ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 15 of 24 a. solicit, induce, encourage, or participate in soliciting, inducing, or encouraging any employee of the Company to terminate their relationship with the Company in order to accept
employment with a different entity in the same industry as the Company or to perform similar work as the employee performed at the Company; b. hire, employ, engage in business with, or attempt to hire, employ, or engage in business

with any person employed by the Company or who has left the employment of the Company within the preceding six (6) months, even if Employee did not initiate the discussion or seek out the contact; c. solicit, induce or attempt to solicit
or induce any person or entity that is or was a Customer or Potential Customer, or a supplier, service provider or vendor, of the Company or any of its parent corporations, subsidiaries, or affiliates at any time during Employee's

employment by the Company to terminate, abandon or otherwise alter adversely the nature or volume of their business relationship or prospective business relationship with the Company or any of its parent corporations, subsidiaries, or
affiliates (including without limitation, by offering or providing to any such person or entity products or services that compete with the business, operations, activities, products or services of the Company or any of its parent corporations,

subsidiaries, or affiliates, recommending to any such person or entity that others perform or provide services or products that can be performed or provided by the Company or any of its parent corporations, subsidiaries, and/or affiliates in
the ordinary course of its business, or by suggesting in any manner, directly or indirectly, that the Customer or Potential Customer should not obtain or continue to obtain services or products from the Company); d. solicit, induce or attempt
to solicit or induce any consultant or independent contractor with whom Employee had direct contact or whose identity Employee learned as a result of Employee's employment with the Company, to terminate, diminish, or materially alter
in a manner harmful to the Company its relationship with the Company. The parties agree that for purposes of this Agreement, a “Customer or Potential Customer” is any person or entity who or which, at any time during the eighteen (18)
months prior to the date on which any of the actions specified in this Section 7 occurs (the “Look Back Period”) (i) contracted for, was billed for, or received from the Company any product, service or process with which Employee worked

directly or indirectly during Employee's employment with the Company or about which Employee acquired Confidential Information; (ii) had business with the Company that Employee managed; (iii) was in contact with Employee or in
contact with any other employee, owner, or agent of the Company, of which contact Employee was or should have been aware, concerning any product, service or process with which Employee worked directly or indirectly during

Employee's employment with the Company or about which Employee acquired Confidential Information; or (iv) was solicited by the Company in an effort in which Employee was involved or of which Employee was or should have been
aware. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for any actions specified in this Section 7 that occur while Employee is employed by the Company, the Look Back Period shall not apply and the restrictions set forth in this Section 7 shall apply to all
Customers and Potential Customers regardless of when Employee had contact with, knowledge of, or obtained confidential information about such person or entity. In the event the Company enforces this Agreement through a court order

or arbitral process, Employee agrees that the restrictions of Section 7 shall remain in effect for a period of twelve (12) months from the effective date of the order or award enforcing the Agreement. ������������������ �
��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 16 of 24 8. Conflict of Interest Guidelines. Employee covenants that Employee shall diligently adhere to the Conflict of Interest Guidelines attached as Exhibit C hereto. 9. Right to Advice of Counsel.
Employee acknowledges that Employee has had the right to consult with counsel and is fully aware of Employee’s rights and obligations under this Agreement. 10. Successors and Assigns. This Agreement is for Employee’s benefit and

the benefit of the Company, its successors, assigns, parent corporations, subsidiaries, affiliates, and purchasers, and will be binding upon Employee’s heirs, executors, administrators and other legal representatives. a. Company’s
Successors. Any successor to the Company (whether direct or indirect and whether by purchase, lease, merger, consolidation, liquidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the Company’s business and/or assets shall assume the

obligations under this Agreement and agree expressly to perform the obligations under this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent as the Company would be required to perform such obligations in the absence of a
succession. For all purposes under this Agreement, the term “Company,” shall include any successor to the Company’s business and/or assets which executes and delivers the assumption agreement described in this subsection (a) or

which becomes bound by the terms of this Agreement by operation of law. b. Employee’s Successors. Without the written consent of the Company, Employee shall not assign or transfer this Agreement or any right or obligation under this
Agreement to any other person or entity. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the terms of this Agreement and all rights of Employee hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by, Employee’s personal or legal representatives,
executors, administrators, successors, heirs, distributees, devisees and legatees. 11. Notice Clause. a. Manner. Any notice hereby required or permitted to be given shall be sufficiently given if in writing and delivered in person or sent by

facsimile, electronic mail, overnight courier or First Class mail, postage prepaid, to either party at the address of such party or such other address as shall have been designated by written notice by such party to the other party. b.
Effectiveness. Any notice or other communication required or permitted to be given under this Agreement will be deemed given (i) upon personal delivery to the party to be notified (ii) on the day when delivered by electronic mail to the

proper electronic mail address, (iii) when sent by confirmed facsimile if sent during normal business hours of the recipient, if not, then on the next business day, (iv) the first business day after deposit with a nationally recognized overnight
courier, specifying next day delivery, or (v) the third business day after the day on which such notice was mailed, as evidenced by the postmark, in accordance with this Section. 12. Legal and Equitable Remedies. a. Employee agrees that
it may be impossible to assess the damages caused by Employee’s violation of this Agreement or any of its terms. Employee agrees that any threatened or actual violation of this Agreement or any of its terms will constitute immediate and
irreparable injury to the Company, and the Company will have the right to enforce this Agreement and any of its provisions by injunction, specific performance or other equitable relief, without bond and without prejudice to any other rights
and remedies that the Company may have for a breach or threatened breach of this Agreement. b. To the extent Employee or the Company seek temporary or preliminary relief, Employee agrees that if either the Company or Employee is
successful in whole or in part in any such request, motion, or application for legal or equitable relief to enforce this Agreement (including, but not limited to, a court or arbitrator partially or fully granting any application, motion, or petition for

injunctive relief, including, but not limited to, a ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 17 of 24 temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, or permanent injunction), whether against or commenced by Employee, the prevailing party will be entitled to recover from the other all
costs, fees, or expenses it incurred at any time during the course of the dispute, including, but not limited to, reasonable attorney’s fees. A final resolution of such dispute or a final judgment is not a prerequisite to the right to demand

payment hereunder and such amounts must be paid by the party against whom the legal or equitable relief has been obtained to the other party within thirty (30) days after written notice of such demand. In the event the prevailing party
demands only a portion of such costs, fees, or expenses incurred, such demand shall be without prejudice to further demands for (i) the remainder of any outstanding costs, fees, or expenses incurred, or (ii) costs, fees, or expenses

incurred after the prior demand. 13. Employment At-Will. Employee agrees and understands that nothing in this Agreement will change Employee’s at-will employment status or confer any right with respect to continuation of employment
by the Company, nor will it interfere in any way with Employee’s right or the Company’s right to terminate Employee’s employment at any time, with or without Cause or advance notice. 14. Waiver. No waiver by the Company of any

breach of this Agreement will be a waiver of any preceding or succeeding breach. No waiver by the Company of any right under this Agreement will be construed as a waiver of any other right. The Company will not be required to give
notice to enforce strict adherence to all terms of this Agreement. 15. Severability. The invalidity, illegality, or unenforceability of any provision, subsections, or sentences contained in this Agreement, or any terms hereof, shall not affect the
legality, validity or enforceability of any other provision or term of this Agreement. This Agreement will be construed as if such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision had never been contained in this Agreement. If moreover, any one or

more of the provisions contained in this Agreement will for any reason be held to be excessively broad as to duration, geographical scope, activity or subject, it will be construed by limiting and reducing it, so as to be enforceable to the
extent compatible with the applicable law as it will then appear. 16. Integration. This Agreement represents the entire agreement and understanding between the parties as to the subject matter herein and supersedes all prior or

contemporaneous agreements whether written or oral. No waiver, alteration, or modification of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be binding unless in writing and signed by duly authorized representatives of the parties hereto.
17. Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of the state where you are/were last employed by the Company. 18. Survival. This
Agreement shall survive the termination of Employee’s employment, regardless of the reason, and the assignment of this Agreement by the Company to any successor in interest or other assignee. 19. Entire Agreement. This Agreement,

together with any Exhibit(s) hereto (incorporated herein by reference), is the final, complete and exclusive agreement between me and the Company with respect to the subject matter of this Agreement and supersedes and merges all
prior discussions between us; provided, however, prior to the execution of this Agreement, if the Company and I were parties to any agreement regarding the subject matter hereof, that agreement will be superseded by this Agreement
prospectively only. No modification of or amendment to this Agreement will be effective unless in writing and signed by the party to be charged. Any subsequent change or changes in my duties, salary or compensation will not affect the

validity or scope of this Agreement. 20. Protected Activity Not Prohibited. Employee understands that nothing in this Agreement limits or prohibits Employee from filing a charge or complaint with, or otherwise communicating or
cooperating with or participating in any investigation or proceeding that may be conducted by, any federal, state or local government agency or commission, including the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Equal Employment

Opportunity ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 18 of 24 Commission, the Occupational Safety and Health Administration, and the National Labor Relations Board (“Government Agencies”), including disclosing documents or other information as
permitted by law, without giving notice to, or receiving authorization from, the Company, discussing the terms and conditions of employment with others to the extent expressly permitted by Section 7 of the National Labor Relations Act.
Notwithstanding, in making any such disclosures or communications, Employee agrees to take all reasonable precautions to prevent any unauthorized use or disclosure of any information that may constitute Confidential Information to
any parties other than the Government Agencies. Further, Employee understand that nothing in this agreement prevents Employee from discussing or disclosing information about unlawful acts in the workplace, such as harassment or

discrimination or any other conduct that Employee has reason to believe is unlawful. However, in the event of any subpoena or other legal process requiring Employee’s disclosure of any Confidential Information, to the fullest extent
permitted by law, Employee agrees to provide the Company with notice (and a reasonable opportunity to object) before any disclosure by Employee. 21. Counterparts. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts,
each of which shall be an original, and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. This Agreement may also be executed and delivered by facsimile signature, PDF or any electronic signature complying with the

U.S. federal ESIGN Act of 2000 (e.g., www.docusign.com). IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Employee and the Company, hereby declare that they, and each of them, has read the foregoing Employee Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure, and
Inventions Assignment Agreement and understands and acknowledges the significance and consequence of it, and has executed this Agreement, in the case of the Company by their duly authorized officers, voluntarily and with full

understanding of its consequences, as of the day and year first above written. ENERGY VAULT HOLDINGS, INC. By: Gonca Icoren Chief People Officer EMPLOYEE Signature: Akshay Ladwa ������������������ �
��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	�� /s/ Gonca Icoren /s/ Akshay Ladwa
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 19 of 24 EXHIBIT A LIST OF PRIOR INVENTIONS AND ORIGINAL WORKS OF AUTHORSHIP Title Date Identifying Number or Brief Description _____ No inventions or improvements _____
Additional Sheets Attached Signature of Employee: Akshay Ladwa ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	�� /s/ Akshay Ladwa
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 20 of 24 EXHIBIT B INVENTIONS ASSIGNMENT NOTICE If Employee is employed by the Company in the State of Delaware, the following provision applies: Delaware Code, Title 19, § 805.
Employee’s right to certain inventions. Any provision in an employment agreement which provides that the employee shall assign or offer to assign any of the employee’s rights in an invention to the employee’s employer shall not apply to
an invention that the employee developed entirely on the employee’s own time without using the employer’s equipment, supplies, facility or trade secret information, except for those inventions that: (i) relate to the employer’s business or

actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (ii) result from any work performed by the employee for the employer. To the extent a provision in an employment agreement purports to apply to the type of invention
described, it is against the public policy of this State and is unenforceable. An employer may not require a provision of an employment agreement made unenforceable under this section as a condition of employment or continued
employment. If Employee is employed by the Company in the State of Illinois, the following provision applies: Illinois Compiled Statutes Chapter 765, Section 1060/2. Employee Patent Act. Sec. 2. Employee rights to inventions -

conditions. (1) A provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee shall assign or offer to assign any of the employee’s rights in an invention to the employer does not apply to an invention for which no equipment,
supplies, facilities, or trade secret information of the employer was used and which was developed entirely on the employee’s own time, unless (a) the invention relates (i) to the business of the employer, or (ii) to the employer’s actual or

demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (b) the invention results from any work performed by the employee for the employer. Any provision which purports to apply to such an invention is to that extent against the public
policy of this State and is to that extent void and unenforceable. The employee shall bear the burden of proof in establishing that his invention qualifies under this subsection. (2) An employer shall not require a provision made void and

unenforceable by subsection (1) of this Section as a condition of employment or continuing employment. This Act shall not preempt existing common law applicable to any shop rights of employers with respect to employees who have not
signed an employment agreement. (3) If an employment agreement entered into after January 1, 1984, contains a provision requiring the employee to assign any of the employee’s rights in any invention to the employer, the employer

must also, at the time the agreement is made, provide a written notification to the employee that the agreement does not apply to an invention for which no equipment, supplies, facility, or trade secret information of the employer was used
and which was developed entirely on the employee’s own time, unless (a) the invention relates (i) to the business of the employer, or (ii) to the employer’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (b) the invention

results from any work performed by the employee for the employer. If Employee is employed by the Company in the State of Kansas, the following provision applies: Chapter 44. LABOR AND INDUSTRIES – Article 1. Employment
Agreements assigning employee rights in inventions to employer; restrictions; certain provisions void; notice and disclosure - 44-130. (a) Any provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee shall assign or offer to

assign any ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 21 of 24 of the employee’s rights in an invention to the employer shall not apply to an invention for which no equipment, supplies, facilities or trade secret information of the employer was used and
which was developed entirely on the employee’s own time, unless: (1) The invention relates to the business of the employer or to the employer’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development; or (2) the invention results

from any work performed by the employee for the employer. (b) Any provision in an employment agreement which purports to apply to an invention which it is prohibited from applying to under subsection (a), is to that extent against the
public policy of this state and is to that extent void and unenforceable. No employer shall require a provision made void and unenforceable by this section as a condition of employment or continuing employment. (c) If an employment

agreement contains a provision requiring the employee to assign any of the employee’s rights in any invention to the employer, the employer shall provide, at the time the agreement is made, a written notification to the employee that the
agreement does not apply to an invention for which no equipment, supplies, facility or trade secret information of the employer was used and which was developed entirely on the employee’s own time, unless: (1) The invention relates

directly to the business of the employer or to the employer’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development; or (2) the invention results from any work performed by the employee for the employer. (d) Even though the
employee meets the burden of proving the conditions specified in this section, the employee shall disclose, at the time of employment or thereafter, all inventions being developed by the employee, for the purpose of determining employer

and employee rights in an invention. If Employee is employed by the Company in the State of Minnesota, the following provision applies: Minnesota Statute Section 181.78. SUBDIVISION 1. Inventions not related to employment. Any
provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee shall assign or offer to assign any of the employee’s rights in an invention to the employer shall not apply to an invention for which no equipment, supplies, facility or
trade secret information of the employer was used and which was developed entirely on the employee’s own time, and (1) which does not relate (a) directly to the business of the employer or (b) to the employer’s actual or demonstrably

anticipated research or development, or (2) which does not result from any work performed by the employee for the employer. Any provision which purports to apply to such an invention is to that extent against the public policy of this
State and is to that extent void and unenforceable. Subdivision 3. If an employment agreement entered into after August 1, 1977 contains a provision requiring the employee to assign or offer to assign any of the employee's rights in any

invention to an employer, the employer must also, at the time the agreement is made, provide a written notification to the employee that the agreement does not apply to an invention for which no equipment, supplies, facility or trade
secret information of the employer was used and which was developed entirely on the employee's own time, and (1) which does not relate (a) directly to the business of the employer or (b) to the employer's actual or demonstrably

anticipated research or development, or (2) which does not result from any work performed by the employee for the employer. If Employee is employed by the Company in the State of Nevada, the following provision applies:
������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��

slide22

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

68/80

https://www.refinitiv.com/
https://www.refinitiv.com/en/contact-us


REFINITIV CORPORATE DISCLOSURES | www.refinitiv.com |
Contact Us
©2024 Refinitiv. All rights reserved. Republication or redistribution of Refinitiv content, including
by framing or similar means, is prohibited without the prior written
consent of Refinitiv. 'Refinitiv' and the Refinitiv logo are
registered trademarks of Refinitiv and its affiliated companies.

69/80

Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 22 of 24 Nevada Revised Statutes Section 600.500. Employer is sole owner of patentable invention or trade secret developed by employee. Except as otherwise provided by express written
agreement, an employer is the sole owner of any patentable invention or trade secret developed by his or her employee during the course and scope of the employment that relates directly to work performed during the course and scope

of the employment. If Employee is employed by the Company in the State of North Carolina, the following provision applies: North Carolina General Statutes Section 66-57.1. EMPLOYEE’S RIGHT TO CERTAIN INVENTIONS. Any
provision in an employment agreement which provides that the employees shall assign or offer to assign any of his rights in an invention to his employer shall not apply to an invention that the employee developed entirely on his own time

without using the employer’s equipment, supplies, facility or trade secret information except for those inventions that (i) relate to the employer’s business or actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (ii) result from
any work performed by the employee for the employer. To the extent a provision in an employment agreement purports to apply to the type of invention described, it is against the public policy of this State and in unenforceable. The

employee shall bear the burden of proof in establishing that his invention qualifies under this section. If Employee is employed by the Company in the State of Utah, the following provision applies: Utah Code, §§ 34-39-2 (Employment
Inventions Act) And 34-39-3 (Scope Of Act) 34-39-2. Definitions. As used in this chapter: (1) “Employment invention” means any invention or part thereof conceived, developed, reduced to practice, or created by an employee which is: (a)
conceived, developed, reduced to practice, or created by the employee: (i) within the scope of his or her employment; (ii) on his employer’s time; or (iii) with the aid, assistance, or use of any of his or her employer’s property, equipment,

facilities, supplies, resources, or intellectual property; (b) the result of any work, services, or duties performed by an employee for his or her employer; (c) related to the industry or trade of the employer; or (d) related to the current or
demonstrably anticipated business, research, or development of the employer. (2) “Intellectual property” means any and all patents, trade secrets, know-how, technology, confidential information, ideas, copyrights, trademarks, and service

marks and any and all rights, applications, and registrations relating to them. 34-39-3. Scope of act -- When agreements between an employee and employer are enforceable or unenforceable with respect to employment inventions --
Exceptions. (1) An employment agreement between an employee and his or her employer is not enforceable against the employee to the extent that the agreement requires the employee to assign or license, or to offer to assign or

license, to the employer any right or intellectual property in or to an invention that is: (a) created by the employee entirely on his or her own time; and (b) not an employment invention. (2) An agreement between an employee and his
employer may require the employee to assign or license, or to offer to assign or license, to his or her employer any or all of his or her rights and intellectual property in or to an employment invention. (3) Subsection (1) does not apply to:

������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 23 of 24 (a) any right, intellectual property or invention that is required by law or by contract between the employer and the United States government or a state or local government to be assigned or
licensed to the United States; or (b) an agreement between an employee and his or her employer which is not an employment agreement. (4) Notwithstanding Subsection (1), an agreement is enforceable under Subsection (1) if the

employee’s employment or continuation of employment is not conditioned on the employee’s acceptance of such agreement and the employee receives a consideration under such agreement which is not compensation for employment.
(5) Employment of the employee or the continuation of his employment is sufficient consideration to support the enforceability of an agreement under Subsection (2) whether or not the agreement recites such consideration. (6) An

employer may require his or her employees to agree to an agreement within the scope of Subsection (2) as a condition of employment or the continuation of employment. (7) An employer may not require his or her employees to agree to
anything unenforceable under Subsection (1) as a condition of employment or the continuation of employment. (8) Nothing in this chapter invalidates or renders unenforceable any employment agreement or provisions of an employment
agreement unrelated to employment inventions. If Employee is employed by the Company in the State of Washington, the following provision applies: TITLE 49. LABOR REGULATIONS - CHAPTER 49.44. VIOLATIONS - PROHIBITED

PRACTICES (i) A provision in an employment agreement which provides that an employee shall assign or offer to assign any of the employee’s rights in an invention to the employer does not apply to an invention for which no equipment,
supplies, facilities, or trade secret information of the employer was used and which was developed entirely on the employee’s own time, unless (a) the invention relates (i) directly to the business of the employer, or (ii) to the employer’s
actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (b) the invention results from any work performed by the employee for the employer. Any provision which purports to apply to such an invention is to that extent against the
public policy of this state and is to that extent void and unenforceable. (ii) An employer shall not require a provision made void and unenforceable by subsection (1) of this section as a condition of employment or continuing employment.

(iii) If an employment agreement entered into after September 1, 1979, contains a provision requiring the employee to assign any of the employee’s rights in any invention to the employer, the employer must also, at the time the
agreement is made, provide a written notification to the employee that the agreement does not apply to an invention for which no equipment, supplies, facility, or trade secret information of the employer was used and which was developed

entirely on the employee’s own time, unless (a) the invention relates (i) directly to the business of the employer, or (ii) to the employer’s actual or demonstrably anticipated research or development, or (b) the invention results from any
work performed by the employee for the employer. ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Akshay Ladwa October 6, 2023 Page 24 of 24 EXHIBIT C CONFLICT OF INTEREST GUIDELINES It is the policy of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”) to conduct its affairs in strict compliance with the letter and spirit of the law
and to adhere to the highest principles of business ethics. Accordingly, all officers, employees and independent contractors must avoid activities which are in conflict, or give the appearance of being in conflict, with these principles and
with the interests of the Company. The following are potentially compromising situations which must be avoided. Any exceptions must be reported to the President and written approval for continuation must be obtained. 1. Revealing

confidential information to outsiders or misusing confidential information. Unauthorized divulging of information is a violation of this policy whether or not for personal gain and whether or not harm to the Company is intended. (The
Employee Confidentiality, Non- Disclosure, and Invention Assignment Agreement elaborates on this principle and is a binding agreement.) 2. Accepting or offering substantial gifts, excessive entertainment, favors or payments which may
be deemed to constitute undue influence or otherwise be improper or embarrassing to the Company. 3. Participating in civic or professional organizations that might involve divulging confidential information of the Company. 4. Initiating or
approving personnel actions affecting reward or punishment of employees or applicants where there is a family relationship or is or appears to be a personal or social involvement. 5. Initiating or approving any form of personal or social

harassment of employees. 6. Investing or holding outside directorship in suppliers, customers, or competing companies, including financial speculations, where such investment or directorship might influence in any manner a decision or
course of action of the Company. 7. Borrowing from or lending to employees, customers or suppliers. 8. Acquiring real estate of interest to the Company. 9. Improperly using or disclosing to the Company any proprietary information or

trade secrets of any former or concurrent employer or other person or entity with whom obligations of confidentiality exist. 10. Unlawfully discussing prices, costs, customers, sales or markets with competing companies or their employees.
11. Making any unlawful agreement with distributors with respect to prices. 12. Improperly using or authorizing the use of any inventions which are the subject of patent claims of any other person or entity. 13. Engaging in any conduct
which is not in the best interest of the Company. Each officer, employee and independent contractor must take every necessary action to ensure compliance with these guidelines and to bring problem areas to the attention of higher

management for review. Violations of this conflict of interest policy may result in discharge without warning. ������������������ � ��������	� ��� ���	��������� �	��
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Energy Vault SA – Via Cantonale 19 – 6900 Lugano – Switzerland Iscr. Registro del Commercio del Canton Ticino n. CHE-134.914.795 Energy Vault SA Via Cantonale 19 Lugano 6900 SWITZERLAND Robert Piconi Riva Lago
Colombaio 1 6921 Vico Morcote 05 April 2024 Retention Bonus Dear Rob, At Energy Vault, we realize that our people are our strength. We also realize that the best way to succeed in our competitive marketplace is to retain our best

people. In this spirit, we are proud to offer you the opportunity to earn a Retention Bonus. The terms and conditions of our offer are detailed below. In exchange for your promise to: (i) remain employed by Energy Vault in good standing
through various earning dates (“Earning Dates”) below and (ii) continue to comply with the terms and conditions of any agreement between you and Energy Vault (including the Employee Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure, and Inventions

Assignment Agreement, you executed on 01 January 2018) through each applicable Earning Date, you will be eligible to earn a total Retention Bonus in the gross amount of CHF 300’000 (the “Retention Bonus”), subject to withholdings
and deductions, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth below. The Retention Bonus will be paid to you in three installments (each, an “Installment Payment”) as an advance on the as-of-yet unearned portion of the overall

Retention Bonus on designated “Advance Dates,” in accordance with the schedule below: Advance Date Earning Date Percentage of Total Retention Bonus Earned/Paid Installment Payment Amount April 30, 2024 April 30, 2025 34%
CHF 102’000 July 31, 2024 July 31, 2025 33% CHF 99’000 October 31, 2024 October 31, 2025 33% CHF 99’000 The amounts paid on each Advance Date above are recoverable advances. Each of the three Installment Payments will

not be earned or vested until the corresponding Earning Date for each Installment Payment in the chart above. If your employment is terminated by Energy Vault for Justified Reason (in the sense of article 340c para. 2 CO) based on your
behavior or performance (as defined below) or you voluntarily terminate your employment with Energy Vault for any reason, in either case, prior to the Earning Date that corresponds to any of the advanced Installment Payments, Energy
Vault will have no obligation to make any further Retention Bonus payments to you and you shall repay Energy Vault the full gross amount of any unearned advanced Installment Payments previously paid to you. Any amounts owed by

you in respect of the foregoing repayment obligations shall be remitted to Energy Vault within thirty Exhibit 10.2
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Energy Vault SA – Via Cantonale 19 – 6900 Lugano – Switzerland Iscr. Registro del Commercio del Canton Ticino n. CHE-134.914.795 (30) days following the termination of your employment. If the termination of employment by either
you or Energy Vault is due to special circumstances such as medical or family emergencies, redundancy, etc., Energy Vault may, at its sole discretion and on a case by case basis, waive or modify the repayment obligation. For purposes
of this letter agreement, “Justified Reason” in the sense of article 340c para. 2 CO shall include, but is not limited to: (a) willful failure to substantially perform your job duties for Energy Vault (other than any such failure resulting from your

physical or mental illness) or failure in any material respect to carry out or comply with any lawful and reasonable directive of your supervisor, the CEO or the Company’s Board of Directors; (b) dishonesty, willful misconduct or fraud in
connection with your employment by Energy Vault; (c) commission of a reportable violation of any applicable law, especially banking, securities or commodities laws, rules or regulations that constitutes a serious offense that could or does
result in a significant fine; (d) conviction or plea of nolo contendere (or equivalent) to or commission of a felony or any crime involving moral turpitude; (e) engaging in sexual, racial, or other forms of unlawful discrimination, harassment, or

retaliation; or (f) a material violation of the Company’s Code of Conduct. This Retention Bonus offer is not a guarantee of continued employment through the date listed on the chart above. Although you are eligible to earn a Retention
Bonus through this program, you will remain subject to your employment agreement, which means that either you or Energy Vault may end our employment relationship according to the contractual notice period. Except as explicitly
modified or amended by this Retention Agreement, all other provisions of the Employment Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Any amendments to this Retention Agreement shall be made in writing to have legal effect,

whereby an exchange of emails shall be considered sufficient This Retention Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the substantive laws of Switzerland. All disputes arising out of or in connection with this
Retention Agreement shall be subject to the jurisdiction of the courts of the domicile or seat of the defendant, or your ordinary place of work. Please note that the existence of this Retention Agreement and the Retention Bonus is

confidential and must not be discussed or disclosed to any third party. You agree and confirm that you will not disclose any information about this Retention Agreement or the Retention Bonus with to any third party except if required by
law or ordered by a competent court or authority. Very truly yours, /s/ Gonca Icoren ________________________ Gonca Icoren Chief People Officer For and on behalf of Energy Vault SA Accepted and agreed: /s/ Robert Piconi 5/4/2024

____________________________ ______________________________ Robert Piconi Date
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CONFIDENTIAL AND NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION OR RECIRCULATION TO: Akshay Ladwa Chief Engineering Officer April 5, 2024 RE: 2024 Retention Bonus Dear Akshay, At Energy Vault, we recognize that our people are the
foundation of our strength. We understand that retaining our top talent is essential for success in our competitive industry. As such, we are pleased to extend to you, as a valued member of our team, a Retention Bonus. The terms and

conditions of our offer are detailed below. In exchange for your promise to: (i) remain employed by Energy Vault in good standing through various earning dates (“Earning Dates”) below and (ii) continue to comply with the terms and
conditions of any agreement between you and Energy Vault (including your executed Employee Confidentiality, Non-Disclosure, and Inventions Assignment Agreement) through each applicable Earning Date, you will be eligible to earn a

total Retention Bonus in the gross amount of USD 150,000 (the “Retention Bonus”), subject to withholdings and deductions, and subject to the terms and conditions set forth below. The Retention Bonus will be paid to you in three
installments (each, an “Installment Payment”) as an advance on the as-of-yet unearned portion of the overall Retention Bonus on designated “Advance Dates,” in accordance with the schedule below: Advance Date Earning Date

Percentage of Total Retention Bonus Earned/Paid Installment Payment Amount April 15, 2024 April 15, 2025 34% USD 51,000 July 15, 2024 July 15, 2025 33% USD 49,500 October 15, 2024 October 15, 2025 33% USD 49,500 The
amounts paid on or before each Advance Date above are recoverable advances. Each of the three Installment Payments will not be earned or vested until the corresponding Earning Date for each Installment Payment in the chart above.

If your employment is terminated by Energy Vault for Cause (as defined below) or you voluntarily terminate your employment with Energy Vault for any reason, in either case, prior to the Earning Date that corresponds to any of the
advanced Installment Payments, Energy Vault will have no obligation to make any further Retention Bonus payments to you and you shall repay Energy Vault the full gross amount of any unearned advanced Installment Payments

previously paid to you, unless otherwise required by law. To the fullest extent permitted under applicable law, any amounts owed by you in respect of the foregoing repayment obligations shall be remitted to Energy Vault within thirty (30)
days following the termination of your employment. Exhibit 10.3
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2 Energy Vault, Inc. 4360 Park Terrace Drive, Suite 100 Westlake Village, CA 91361 United States l www.energyvault.com CONFIDENTIAL AND NOT FOR DISTRIBUTION OR RECIRCULATION If your employment is terminated by
Energy Vault without Cause, prior to the Earning Date that corresponds to any of the advanced Installment Payments, Energy Vault will have no obligation to make any further Retention Bonus payments to you and will determine in its
sole discretion whether you will be required to repay Energy Vault the full gross amount of any unearned advanced Installment Payments previously paid to you, unless otherwise required by law. To the fullest extent permitted under

applicable law, should Energy Vault impose the repayment obligation, you agree to remit to Energy Vault any amounts owed by you within thirty (30) days following the termination of your employment. For purposes of this letter
agreement, “Cause” shall include, but is not limited to: (a) willful failure to substantially perform your job duties for Energy Vault (other than any such failure resulting from your physical or mental illness) or failure in any material respect to

carry out or comply with any lawful and reasonable directive of your supervisor, the CEO or the Company’s Board of Directors; (b) dishonesty, willful misconduct or fraud in connection with your employment by Energy Vault; (c)
commission of a reportable violation of any applicable banking, securities or commodities laws, rules or regulations that constitutes a serious offense that could or does result in a significant fine; (d) conviction or plea of nolo contendere
(or equivalent) to or commission of a felony or any crime involving moral turpitude; (e) engaging in sexual, racial, or other forms of unlawful discrimination, harassment, or retaliation; or (f) a material violation of the Company’s Code of

Conduct. This Retention Bonus offer is not a guarantee of continued employment through the date listed on the chart above. Although you are eligible to earn a Retention Bonus through this program, you will remain an “at will” employee
of Energy Vault, which means that either you or Energy Vault may end our employment relationship at any time, for any or no reason. Regards, ________________________ Goncagul Icoren Chief People Officer Energy Vault, Inc.

Accepted and agreed: ______________________________ ____________________________ Akshay Lawda Date
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)

UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT of 2002

I, Robert Piconi, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:
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(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 8, 2024 August 6, 2024

Signature: /s/ Robert Piconi

Title: Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO RULES 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a)

UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES OXLEY ACT of 2002

I, Michael Beer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of
the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e)
and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report
is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure
controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
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(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s
fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting;
and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the
audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the
registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 8, 2024 August 6, 2024

Signature: /s/ Michael Beer

Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Robert Piconi, Chief Executive Officer of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the fiscal quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section
13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company, at the dates and for the
periods presented in the financial statements included in this Report.

Date: May 8, 2024 August 6, 2024

Signature: /s/ Robert Piconi

Title: Co-Founder and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906
OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael Beer, Chief Financial Officer of Energy Vault Holdings, Inc. (the “Company”), certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:

1. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of the Company for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 June 30, 2024 (the “Report”) fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a)
or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

2. The information contained in this Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company, at the dates and for the
periods presented in the financial statements included in this Report.

Date: May 8, 2024 August 6, 2024
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Signature: /s/ Michael Beer

Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)
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DISCLAIMER

THE INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE REFINITIV
CORPORATE DISCLOSURES DELTA REPORT™ IS A COMPARISON OF TWO
FINANCIALS PERIODIC REPORTS. THERE MAY BE MATERIAL ERRORS, OMISSIONS, OR
INACCURACIES IN THE REPORT INCLUDING
THE TEXT AND THE COMPARISON DATA AND TABLES. IN NO WAY DOES REFINITIV OR THE APPLICABLE COMPANY ASSUME
ANY
RESPONSIBILITY FOR ANY INVESTMENT OR OTHER DECISIONS MADE BASED UPON THE INFORMATION PROVIDED IN THIS
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